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• Turnover up 1% to £98.1m (2019: £96.9m)

• Operating profit of £12.6m (2019: £11.8m)

• Capital expenditure of £10.8m (2019: £22.5m)

• Net debt reduced to £65.4m (2019: £69.7m)

• Underlying earnings per share up 9% to 13.3p1 (2019: 12.2p)

• Net assets per share of £3.02 (2019: £3.07)

1 Underlying earnings per share – earnings per share before loss on interest rate swaps measured at fair value.

FINANCIAL 

HIGHLIGHTS

ABOUT

US

Daniel Thwaites PLC is one of the UK’s longest 
established family brewers with a strong regional 
presence in the North of England.

We have an estate of approximately 300 freehold properties, comprising pubs, inns, hotels & spas and our 

craft brewery. Our strong family connections shape the way we do business with an eye for quality and a 

generous blend of innovation, craftsmanship and warm hospitality.

Our ambitions are shaped by our desire to be the best in our local market place, and to drive value for our 

shareholders and customers who put their trust in us to deliver superb hospitality in outstanding properties 

in great locations and of course, brew some fabulous beers along the way.
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STRATEGY

OUR PURPOSE – WHY WE EXIST
Our purpose is to make people feel at ease. We do 
that through our real hospitality, delivered in a socially 
responsible way, by friendly faces in our outstanding 
properties in great locations.

OUR STRATEGY - HOW WE DRIVE 
DIFFERENTIATION AND CREATE VALUE
We have created a framework of strategic drivers to 
push us to continuously improve and drive innovation 
and change within the business so that it does not 
stand still and is agile in developing for the future.

REAL HOSPITALITY
In each of our properties we challenge ourselves to 
understand and continue to adapt and improve our 
high standards of service time and again to bring a 
premium experience to our customers, making it easy 
for them to decide to return or to visit us in one of our 
other properties.

We take special care in crafting the offering in each 
of our properties to provide thoughtful and delightful 
touches and small details that make a big difference. 
Our properties are all unique and our attention to detail 
brings out their individuality. 

FRIENDLY FACES
Our business would be nothing without our incredible 
people and teams. We seek to attract and retain 
energetic people who have a natural desire and ability 
to make people feel at ease.

CULTURE
As a result of the diversification of our business across 
a number of differing markets we have a valuable 
insight into how different things work in different 
settings. We have a culture of collaboration, sharing 
and learning across the business, working as one single 
organisation to adopt best practice.

Daniel Thwaites is a deliberately diversified regional hospitality and leisure 
business operating in the pub and hotel market predominantly in England. 
The business has been built up with an eye for quality, a premium offer 
and differentiation.



SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
We are socially responsible throughout our business 
and do what we believe to be the right thing. In 
particular we offer the highest quality, sustainable 
products. Wherever possible we source our products 
and services locally and it is always our preference to 
buy British if possible.

OUTSTANDING PROPERTIES IN GREAT 
LOCATIONS
We expect our properties to be the best in their area 
and this requires us to continually improve the quality 
of the estate and the returns we make. We review our 
properties regularly to recycle capital where we believe 
a property cannot meet the returns available to us 
elsewhere. 

We recognise the importance of regular investment in 
our freehold assets, keeping them in good order. When 
we do invest, we create high quality design driven 
schemes that enhance the customer experience.

OUR BUSINESSES
We believe that the diversification of the business 
provides some resilience throughout the normal 
course of the business cycle. We also believe that in 
the long term the freehold ownership of our portfolio 
is preferable to operating leasehold properties and 
adds long term value and protection.

THWAITES PUBS
Over time we have assembled an estate of pubs that 
represents the best of the Great British Pub – friendly 
locals, serving lovely beers and offering wonderful 
home cooked food at the heart of their community. 

OUR TENANTED PUBS
We own an estate of well invested tenanted pubs that 
has been built up over two centuries and can count 
amongst it some of the best pubs in the country. The 
tenancies are run in partnership with entrepreneurial 
operators where both party’s interests are aligned in 
building and running a successful pub, and our teams 
are on hand to provide business support and help 
solve day to day issues. The shared income model 
of a tenanted pub provides a robust model that is 
cash generative. Our tenanted pubs also support our 
brewery providing a vital route to market for our beers. 

OUR MANAGED PUBS
We own a small number of managed pubs, which 
either by virtue of their size or because in due course 
they will be converted to tenancies, we run under 
direct management. These are pubs that have a long-
term sustainable future within the business, where 
we can take advantage of our central infrastructure 
running our other managed properties to trade them 
profitably.

7thwaites.co.uk
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THWAITES BREWERY…. 
CRAFT BREWERS SINCE 1807
Brewing is in our blood, it’s what we do day in, day out. 
It’s not just a job, it’s a way of life and has been for over 
200 years. 

Since Daniel Thwaites first set out from his family farm 
in the Lake District and started his brewery in 1807, our 
brewers have continued to create beautifully balanced, 
delicious beers. We believe that the heritage of our 
brewery brings a rich equity to the rest of our business. 
We are proud of the quality of the beers we brew and 
only sell our beer in our own properties; we think that 
it makes them that little bit more special and provides 
another reason to visit.

THE HOUSE OF DANIEL THWAITES…. 
SMALL DETAILS, BIG DIFFERENCE
We have been passionate about delivering superb 
hospitality since Daniel opened his first pub over 200 
years ago. Be it a trip away for business or leisure, 
we know how important it is to be comfortable, well 
looked after and feel welcome. Our hospitality now 
extends to a collection of premium inns, hotels and 
spas which we have brought together under the House 
of Daniel Thwaites as a way of collectively marketing 
them to a discerning customer base.

OUR INNS - MANAGED PUBS 
WITH BEDROOMS:
We own and run a small portfolio of larger pubs, or 
inns, with typically between 20-40 bedrooms, where 
the income split is broadly equal between the rooms, 
food and drink. 

Our inns are typically old and historic buildings that 
ooze charm. We build on this through investment in 
thoughtfully designed schemes to modernize them 
and make them feel characterful and special. We serve 
home cooked food and interesting specials that places 
them above normal pub grub. Our inns are operated to 
at least a four star and in most cases five star level.

OUR HOTELS AND SPA HOTELS:
We own and operate a family of ten hotels & spas 
with a strong local following that stand out from the 
mass market chains. We enrich the customer offer by 
creating different experiences throughout our hotels 
and are unwavering in ensuring that the products and 
services that we provide throughout our properties are 
of good quality and the design is interesting. 

We invest thoughtfully in the physical environment 
throughout our hotels to make them feel different and 
help our customers feel at ease. We actively want to 
stand out from the international chains by providing 
a more enjoyable environment, characterised by 
interesting design, friendly service, home cooked food 
and close attention to detail.
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CHAIRMAN’S 

STATEMENT
The Company was having a good year until the last month of the financial 
year saw the world turned upside down by the impact of COVID-19 and 
forced closure notices.

Our plan last year was to have a year of lower capital 
expenditure and run the business without interruption 
to understand the impact of our investments of the 
past few years and fine tune its performance. I am 
pleased to report that in the first 11 months, despite 
some challenging weather and trading conditions, the 
business was trading very well, with turnover up by 5% 
and operating profits running 12% ahead of the year 
before.

Our hotel business had a good year, recovering well 
from the difficulties it faced last year and once again 
our Inns posted strong year on year growth. The 
tenanted pubs were broadly flat year on year. 

In early March we completed a refinancing of the 
business with our banks for a period of 3 years to 
2023, which included facilities that gave us headroom 
and scope for investment in growth. All of this taken 
together meant that the Company was in good shape 
approaching its year end.

Of course, the historic trading performance became 
irrelevant in March as the impact of the measures 
imposed by the government in response to COVID-19 
tore into the business. Facing a total annihilation of 
sales our priority instantly switched to survival and 
the protection of the business in order to ride out 
the storm, conserve cash and protect the strength of 
the balance sheet. We were able to take advantage 
of government schemes and position ourselves for a 
period of uncertainty. 

We have suffered several months of losses and are 
prepared for a slow recovery.

We have used the time whilst not trading profitably to 
think about how we continue to improve our customer 
experience as we relaunch the business and start to 
recover. We have reviewed and revised how we will 
market to our customers and this has put us in a good 
place to reopen with an even stronger proposition. 
We have also considered our structures and cost 
base across all areas of the business, stripping out 
unnecessary expenditure and streamlining processes 
to make the business leaner.

In relaunching we are fortunate to be able to take 
advantage of the investments that we have made over 
the past few years. Our properties across the business 
are in good order; well invested and tilted towards 
a more premium segment. At a time when cash 
conservation will continue to be important this is an 
advantage as there is a less immediate need to spend 
money on further development.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Turnover for the year to 31 March 2020 grew by 1% to 
£98.1m (2019: £96.9m). The strongest growth once 
again came from the inns, although our hotels also 
posted good growth year on year, benefiting from the 
restructuring last year and renewed focus on room 
rate.
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Underlying operating profit (before GMP adjustment 
for past service in 2019) is lower than last year at 
£12.6m (2019: £13.0m). This reflects the impact of the 
downturn in trade from the second week of March and 
full closure of the business from 20 March, the impact 
of which was to create a reduction in profit in that 
month of £2.5m compared to prior year.

Profit before tax was £3.6m (2019: £4.5m) and suffered 
from an adverse mark to market valuation on our 
swap contracts of £4.5m as a result of the emergency 
interest rate cut by the Bank of England on 19 March 
2020 to 0.1%. 

Cash generation has continued to be strong, with 
EBITDA of £19.5m (2019: £20.5m), a reduced capital 
investment programme of £10.8m (2019: £19.5m) and 
property disposals of £6.3m. Net debt decreased in the 
year by £4.3m from £69.7m at 31 March 2019 to £65.4m 
at 31 March 2020.

ACQUISITIONS, DEVELOPMENTS AND 
DISPOSALS
We have continued to invest in developing our 
properties however this year we have completed fewer 
large projects, the biggest being the redevelopment of 
the Flying Handbag in Blackpool, the refurbishment 
of The Judges Lodgings and bedrooms at Middletons, 
York. Our investments were performing well up to the 
date that our properties were shut. 

We acquired three pubs in the year for a total cost of 
£1.8m, The Pendle Inn in Barley, The Hare and Hounds 
in Foulridge and The Hart’s Head in Giggleswick. All of 
these pubs have a number of bedrooms and will make 
good long-term additions to the estate.

In August we sold Funny Girls, which we had acquired 
from the administrator in the previous year. This 
business was non-core and we were able to return it 
to its original owner. We continued to divest of pubs 
that no longer suit our requirements, and with ten 
properties sold in the year we received proceeds of 
£6.3m from disposals.

DIVIDEND
An interim dividend of 1.10p (2019: 1.10p) was paid in 
January 2020 and further to the announcement made 
on 20 May 2020 the Board does not recommend 
payment of a final dividend this year (2019: 3.36p). 
The preservation of cash is an absolute priority as the 
Company looks to reopen its properties and rebuild 
its profits, at which point future dividends will be 
reviewed.

BOARD
I am delighted that Mark Fisher joined us as a non-
executive director from 1 June 2019. Mark is currently 
Chief Development Officer of Merlin Entertainments 
plc, where he has been a senior member of the 
management team for over 18 years. Since joining Mark 
has brought invaluable insight into how we continue to 
develop our customer offer.

PEOPLE
Our people are the beating heart of our business 
and it is only with their hard work and unwavering 
commitment to go the extra mile that we provide our 
customers with the high service levels that we deliver.
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We are a strong business with a long track record and 
excellent reputation as an employer of choice in our 
local markets. For the past few years the labour market 
has been very tight and there has been no room for 
complacency. Now, employer reputations are being 
scrutinised in the current crisis, with the furlough 
scheme testing employee resilience and some team 
members on furlough losing self-confidence.

We guard our family values preciously, they provide a 
strong framework for us to be able to respond to this 
challenge and to continue to support our teams and 
our reputation as an excellent employer. 

Our staff have been tremendously understanding and 
supportive of the Company over the past year and 
through the last few months and I would like to pass 
on my sincere thanks as we start to understand the 
speed at which the business will start to trade at more 
normal levels and bring them back to work.

I would also like to thank our shareholders for their 
unquestioning support as we rebuild their business for 
the future. 

OUTLOOK
The current COVID-19 crisis has burdened the business 
with more strain and uncertainty than I can remember 
at any time in the past two decades and much remains 
unclear about the speed and direction of any recovery. 

Indeed, it is likely that people’s habits will be changed 
for good, with long-term societal drivers accelerated in 
areas such as online shopping and working from home 
dislocating behaviour and retail markets. 

Despite this, I remain positive that there is a place 
for Daniel Thwaites and our high quality and 
authentic hospitality in the new environment that 
we face. Lockdown has reinforced that humans are 
fundamentally sociable beings and they want to visit 
the pub, seek out rich experiences in their free time 
and spend time with their friends and families; we are 
extremely well placed to cater to this.

The drive towards quality within our properties puts 
them in a good position to be the place of choice 
should customers choose to go out less frequently. 
We do not have properties in city centre locations 
and our larger hotels are located on the motorway 
network away from public transport. We have good 
representation in rural locations and national parks, 
places that people will seek out. The geographic 
diversity of our properties also provides some 
resilience should there be localised lockdowns as we 
continue to respond to the threat of COVID-19. 

It is therefore with optimism that we look to the next 
year and the future, even if the path for the moment is 
a bit uncertain. I am confident that we will navigate this 
coming year with dynamism and agility to rebuild our 
teams, our sales and our profitability in order to allow 
the company to thrive once more. 

R A J Bailey
Chairman
18 November 2020



12

OVERVIEW
The Company is seeing the benefits from several 
years of intensive capital investment and significant 
expenditure on acquiring and improving the Company’s 
assets. The plan for the financial year to March 2020 
was to drive sales, control costs and invest carefully, 
but at a lower level than previous years, in order to 
fully understand how the business trades without 
the disruption it has faced over recent years from its 
investment programme. The other key objective for 
the year was to reduce net debt in advance of a major 
investment project at Langdale Chase in 2020/21.

The ongoing tightening of the labour market persisted 
throughout the year, and this challenging dynamic 
around attracting and recruiting talented team 
members has been an underlying theme for some 
time. We have responded by becoming the employer 
of choice in our local markets as a result of the strong 
culture of our family business and providing the 
opportunity for people to learn and progress within the 
Company.

Another major theme of the past few years has been a 
rapid and material increase in the level of competition 
in the casual dining and accommodation markets, 
which has made it difficult to increase prices in 
response to increasing labour and overhead costs. 
Whilst we have tried to focus on the quality of our 
offer, discounting had become an endemic feature of 
the markets we operate in.

In response to the increasing competitive pressures 
we have focused on the use of technology, and we 
have adopted a number of tools to help us to increase 

STRATEGIC

REPORT
OPERATING REVIEW

efficiency, reduce processes, manage data and 
enhance the customer journey. The approach we have 
taken to these during the past year has been to seek 
to differentiate ourselves, avoid discounting and use 
technology to help us to reduce both our fixed and 
variable costs.

The arrival of COVID-19 in the winter of 2019 and the 
subsequent steps taken by the government to shut 
down the UK hospitality industry in order to seek to 
contain spread of the virus has had a dramatic effect 
on each of these themes, which is likely to persist for 
some time to come. 

The decision by the government to ask for the closure 
of every property the company operates on the 20 
March 2020 had a material effect on the year end 
results, decimating our sales in the closing few weeks 
of the year and creating an immediate operating cost 
of closure in the last 10 days of the financial year of 
approximately £2.5m. The performance for the year 
should therefore be measured against this context.

The first half of the year was challenging, characterised 
by a poor run of weather through the summer and 
political chaos ahead of the election in December 2019. 
This had the effect of decreasing consumer confidence 
as we entered the autumn. The previous year had 
seen a prolonged hot sunny summer and so the 
comparatives were challenging. 

Despite these factors the first half of the year was a 
success, with turnover ahead by 7% and operating 
profit up 9% at the half year. The pubs had a good run, 
increasing turnover and maintaining their profits, the 
inns had an excellent summer with strong increases 
in sales driven by room sales as people chose to stay 
in the UK, we benefited from the investment made in 
the previous year at The Beverley Arms. The hotels and 
spas also got off to a good start after a tricky previous 
year, posting a recovery in both sales and profitability.
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Despite all that was going on in the political arena 
our momentum was maintained into the autumn and 
spring, and by the end of February sales were up 5% 
and operating profits were up 12%. The underlying 
non-disrupted performance of the business was 
demonstrating the strength of the investment strategy 
that we have been pursuing and our plan to minimise 
disruption and focus on our core businesses.

In March we suffered three weeks of disruption, which 
included ten days of no sales whatsoever and so we 
ended the year with sales having increased by 1%, on a 
like for like basis, EBITDA decreased by 5% to £19.5m 
(2019: £20.5m), whilst group operating profit increased 
to £12.6m (2019: £11.8m). Despite the disruption at the 
end of March, our net debt, which was a core focus 
for us during the year, ended the year at £65.4m (2019: 
£69.7m).

Turnover £m

Operating profit £m

EBITDA* £m

Average No. of 
pubs and inns

52.7 52.8

14.3 14.5

17.9 18.1

251
238

2019

2019

2019

2019

2020

2020

2020

2020

Pubs

Our freehold estate of tenanted pubs numbers 
approximately 230 properties. We continue to 
recycle capital into new, more attractive tenanted 
and managed pub opportunities, where there is the 
potential to invest and add value and so we continue 
to dispose of pubs that we do not believe have a long-
term future with us. 

Our pub estate encompasses community locals to 
destination food led pubs in both rural and town 
centre locations, ranging geographically from Cumbria 
to the Midlands, and from North Wales to Yorkshire. 
In the current environment the geographic diversity of 
the pub estate and the lack of exposure to major city 
centres should provide some resilience.

We have been operating tenanted pubs for a long 
time, and we have a strong reputation for our well-
established approach. We strongly value our reputation 
as a partner of choice, acting with integrity, and 
focusing on investing alongside proven operators 
to expand and improve the premises with a focus 
on establishing good quality food offerings. Where 
the property has the scope, and we believe the 
demand exists, we support the development of 
letting bedrooms. We have an estate of high quality, 
sustainable businesses with multiple income streams 
that have the ability to generate attractive cashflows.

Our tenanted pubs have had a good year, and 
whilst they have not posted strong growth, this a 
mature business, delivering returns at least in line 
with inflation. They tend to be heavily influenced by 
weather and so are subject to the vagaries of the 
British summer. Despite a poor summer they held 
their own in the first half of the year, poor weather 
in January and February 2020 proved much more 
challenging and in March dropped significantly in the 
weeks up to lockdown. In a positive sign for the future 
the increasing move towards premium products by 
drinkers meant that our margins on beer sales, which 
comprise a significant element of income, has been 
growing ahead of trend. The operating profit of the 
tenanted pub business decreased by 4% year on year, 
and average EBITDA per pub was level year on year.

We acquired three new tenanted pubs in the second 
half of the year, The Pendle Inn, Barley, The Hare and 
Hounds, Foulridge and The Harts Head, Giggleswick, 
all of these pubs have accommodation and a strong 
food offering, two of them are in destination, honeypot 
walking locations and we expect they will all be good 
long-term additions to the Company. 

We sold the Odeon cinema, that we acquired as part of 
Funny Girls, back to the former owner in August 2019, 
and we also disposed of ten pubs during the year. 

The increased levels of tenant churn that we started 
to experience last year continued through the year, 
so that at the year-end we had 22 pubs (10% of the 
estate) which were looking for new tenants compared 
to 19 pubs last year. It is encouraging that since 
pubs re-opened on 4 July 2020 a number of tenants 

*EBITDA is operating profit before depreciation and is reconciled to 
operating profit in the Financial Review on page 16.

PUBS AND INNS
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have withdrawn their notice, in addition to which we 
have seen strong pickup in interest from high quality 
candidates looking to take on a pub with us. 

During the year we completed 12 development projects 
at a cost of £1.9m. The major project in the year was 
the refurbishment of the Flying Handbag in Blackpool, 
which is one of the most well-known LGBT venues in 
the north of England. We invested £600k in a complete 
refurbishment and relaunched the property at the 
end of February 2020; prior to lockdown the pub was 
trading well ahead of expectations and we expect that 
it will trade very well once distancing measures are 
relaxed. Other major projects were completed at the 
Malt Shovel, Barkby, The Bluebell, Carlton-in-Lindrick 
and the Boot and Shoe, Elswick. 

Brewery

Our new craft brewery was launched in July 2018 
and has gone from strength to strength since. It has 
won awards for the quality of its ales and customer 
feedback on the beers has been fantastic. We continue 
to brew ales only for distribution in our own properties 
and this path is proving to be a successful one for us.

In the summer of 2019, we launched a new core range 
of five beers to such resounding support that we 
quickly took the decision to increase capacity in the 
brewery. We installed three new fermenting vessels in 
October and are now able to keep up with increased 
demand. 

This coming year we will build on this success by re-
introducing our popular range of guest ales, which was 
not possible whilst we were capacity constrained.

Inns

We own and manage a growing portfolio of inns and 
we will continue to look to expand this segment of our 
business in the future through the acquisition of high 
quality properties in outstanding locations to develop 
this part of our business. 

Our Inns are positioned at the premium end of the 
market, they have a busy bar at their core, a home 
cooked food offering and high quality, comfortable 
accommodation – they focus on providing outstanding 
hospitality and offer an attractive and more personal 
alternative to the mid-market hotel chains. 

This segment of the market has performed strongly 
over the past few years and is positioned for continued 
growth as customers look for something special that 
is authentic and honest, delivered by operators who 
can provide a quality experience consistently. We have 
worked hard in this area and sales during the year 
increased by 8% and operating profits have increased 
by 13%.

The Inns have all delivered strong performances, but 
in particular The Beverley Arms and The Crown, Pooley 
Bridge have posted exceptional performances which 
bodes well for the future.

In York, the performance of The Judges Lodging had 
started to suffer due to a number of new entrants 
to the market since we opened five years ago, so in 
January 2020 we closed it for a refurbishment of the 
bedrooms, restaurants and bars. It is now well placed 
to make the most of its superb location and its strong 
offering as the market picks up again. 

Turnover £m

Operating profit £m

EBITDA* £m

Average No. 
of hotels

45.344.2

6.56.3

10.09.8

1010

2019

2019

2019

2019

2020

2020

2020

2020

*EBITDA is operating profit before depreciation and is reconciled to 
operating profit in the Financial Review on page 16.

HOTELS & SPAS

We own and operate ten hotels which are spread 
across England. Our hotels are positioned towards the 
premium end of the market and most have leisure and 
spa facilities. In recent years we have invested in them 
to amplify the individual character of each hotel in its 
local area, supported by a great food and drink offering 
with local nuances. Our vision, similar to our Inns, 
is to create a collection of interesting, characterful 
contemporary hotels, that are the best in their local 
area.
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The operational plan for the year was to minimise 
disruption after a number of years of major capital 
projects and focus on quality and service. This has 
been successful and against a provincial hotel market 
that has been struggling and where revenue per 
available room decreased in value by 1%, our hotels 
sales were trending prior to lockdown at 7% growth, 
with operating profits at the end of February up 19%, 
a strong recovery from a difficult performance the 
previous year. With the impact of closure in March 
they ended the year with increased sales of 3%, with 
operating profit also up by 3% year on year, which was 
ahead of the UK regional market. 

We completed very few refurbishment schemes in the 
year, with the exception of some pool hall and gym 
refurbishments. We finalised our refurbishment plans 
for Langdale Chase, which is a major scheme designed 
to reposition the hotel into the luxury end of the 
market and the works planned will require closing the 
hotel for a full year. The project has been put on hold 
for the time being whilst we assess the speed of any 
recovery in the market post COVID-19.

The performance of the hotels prior to lockdown was 
very encouraging and we were making progress to 
increase our rooms income both through increased 
occupancy and rate. The location of our hotels, outside 
city centres and positioned mainly on the motorway 
networks, with integrated spa and leisure facilities 
should stand them in good stead as the hotel market 
recovers.

SUMMARY AND FUTURE 
DEVELOPMENTS
The business was trading well as we entered March 
2020 and was on track to post good year on year 
growth in all areas, performing in line with or ahead 
of the market. This momentum was significantly 
impacted by lockdown, but the factors that were 
driving the performance as we shut down provide 
reassurance that once the market starts to recover 
the positioning of our estate of pubs, inns and hotels 
is well placed to come out of the current crisis in a 
strong position.

The common themes of the last few years regarding 
the labour market and increased competition, 
especially from the casual dining market, look likely to 
abate and even reverse as a consequence of COVID-19. 
Business failure and increased unemployment will 
become clearer in the coming months. Supply of new 
hotels into the regional market looks as though it will 
be muted until hotels have fully reopened and recovery 
is embedded.

We have accelerated the use of new technology 
by implementing online ordering and payment and 
improving our EPoS and customer feedback systems, 
creating further efficiency gains.

Forced lockdowns have required us to face into the 
abyss of survival. Our thoughts are now about how we 
can maintain and build back the quality of our offering 
and our guest experience to reinforce the progress 
that we made in previous years. In this we have an 
opportunity to continue to stand out from the crowd 
and emerge as the best on the block.

Opportunities will arise from the changed operating 
environment and we are ready to embrace them, be 
it through taking advantage of staycations, continuing 
to drive quality in our food and drink offering, taking 
advantage of the labour market to attract great quality 
candidates and in the fullness of time looking for more 
acquisitions.

Our operational plan last year and focus on reducing 
our net debt meant that we ended the year in a strong 
position to confront the COVID-19 crisis. Whilst to 
some degree we are exposed to consumer confidence, 
the strength of the economy and the appetite of our 
corporate customers to visit our hotels, our relative 
position in the market is favourable and we are ready 
to make the most of the situation in which we find 
ourselves.
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2020 2019

Group

£m £m

Turnover 98.1 96.9

EBITDA 19.5 20.5

Depreciation 7.7 7.6

Operating profit 12.6 11.8

Profit before tax 3.6 4.5

Net debt 65.4 69.7

Earnings per share (pence) 5.6 5.9

Pubs and Inns

£m £m

Turnover 52.8 52.7

EBITDA 18.1 17.9

Depreciation 3.6 3.6

Operating profit (before Group central charges) 14.5 14.3

Average number

Tenanted 225 238

Managed 13 13

Hotels & Spas

£m £m

Turnover 45.3 44.2

EBITDA 10.0 9.8

Depreciation 3.5 3.5

Operating profit (before Group central charges) 6.5 6.3

Average number 10 10

RESULTS
Turnover for the year ended 31 March 2020 increased 
by 1% to £98.1m (2019: £96.9m). Operating profit 
increased by 7% to £12.6m (2019: £11.8m). 

The measurement of the interest rate swaps at fair 
value resulted in a charge of £4.5m (2019: a charge of 
£2.5m).

Profit before taxation for the year was £3.6m (2019: 
£4.5m).

BUSINESS REVIEW
The key issues facing the Group are covered in the 
Chairman’s Statement and Strategic Report. The KPIs 
used by the Group to monitor its overall financial 
position can be summarised as follows:

HOTELS
Room occupancy rates, customer ratings, health and 
safety incidents, spa memberships and wedding and 
event numbers.

INTEREST RATE SWAPS MEASURED AT 
FAIR VALUE
The Group has interest rate swaps for £55m which are 
recognised as a financial liability. During the year ended 
31 March 2020, there was significant volatility in future 
interest rate expectations due to the political and 
economic uncertainty arising from Brexit, followed by 
a significant reduction in interest rates in March 2020 
as a reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic, as a result the 
movement in the fair value of the interest rate swaps 
was a charge to the profit and loss account of £4.5m 
(2019: a charge of £2.5m). See note 17 to the financial 
statements for further details.

INTEREST PAYABLE
Net interest payable was £3.9m (2019: £3.9m) as loan 
capital decreased from £73.5m at the start of the year 
to £65.5m at the end of the year. 

TAXATION
The tax charge on profit for the year was £0.3m, an 
effective rate of 8.3%, due to adjustments to deferred 
tax as the future tax rate was changed from 17% to 19% 
at the last budget. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The earnings per share was 5.6p (2019: 5.9p).

DIVIDENDS
An interim dividend of 1.10p has been paid, but the 
Board did not recommend the payment of a final 
dividend due to the need to preserve cash due to the 
closure of the business in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, which will make a total of 1.10p for 2020 
(2019: 4.46p).

CASH FLOW AND FINANCING
The Group’s net borrowing reduced by £4.3m, from 
£69.7m at 31 March 2019 to £65.4m at 31 March 2020 
due to proceeds from property disposals. 

The Group made deficit contributions to the defined 
benefit pension schemes of £0.8m (2019: £1.8m). 
Whilst these schemes were closed in August 2009, 
the Group is committed to funding the deficit on the 
schemes which was £32.3m, before tax, at 31 March 
2020, an increase of £7.5m from £24.8m at 31 March 
2019.

The Group renewed it bank facilities in March 2020, 
putting in place revolving credit facilities of £35m, of 
which £20.5m was drawn down at 31 March 2020. 
The Group also has £45m of long-term debt and cash 
balances of £0.1m at 31 March 2020.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The principal non-financial indicators monitored by 
management are:

PUBS AND INNS
Utility consumption, health and safety incidents, beer 
volumes, customer ratings and tenant recruitment.
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PENSIONS
The combined deficits of the defined benefit pension 
schemes increased, net of deferred tax, by £5.6m from 
£20.6m at 31 March 2019 to £26.2m at 31 March 2020.

The main reason for the increase in the deficit is due 
to a significant fall in the value of scheme assets at 
31 March 2020 due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on equity values. This was partially offset by 
the adoption of revised mortality projections, and a fall 
in inflation expectations which placed a lower value on 
scheme liabilities.

PROPERTY
During the year we sold ten pubs, Funny Girls in 
Blackpool and three ancillary properties for a total 
of £6.3m generating a profit against book value, after 
disposal costs, of £0.8m. 

In line with our accounting policy, 20% of our 
properties were subject to a formal revaluation, and 
additionally an impairment review was carried out 
on the rest of our property estate. This resulted in an 
increase in the total value of our property portfolio of 
£2.0m, of which £2.3m was added to the revaluation 
reserve and £0.3m deducted from cost and charged to 
the profit and loss account.

TREASURY POLICY AND FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Treasury policies are subject to Board approval. All 
borrowings are in sterling and comprise a mixture of 
fixed interest loans and facilities carrying LIBOR related 
floating rates. The Group has interest rate swaps for 
£55m where it is committed to pay the difference 
between LIBOR and fixed interest rates. At 31 March 
2020 a financial liability of £21.4m has been recognised 
in respect of these interest rate swap contracts.

GOING CONCERN
At 31 March 2020 the Company had total borrowing 
facilities of £82m, which were made up of the long-
term loan of £45m, revolving credit facilities of £35m 
and overdraft facilities of £2m. When compared to net 
debt of £65.4m at 31 March 2020, this gave head room 
of £16.6m. 

The Company has a strong balance sheet with just 
under £300m of high quality freehold assets, and went 
into this crisis with a relatively low level of gearing. 

The decisive actions taken by the Company (set out 
on pages 22 to 23) and the financial support that 
the hospitality industry has received from the UK 
government together mean that during the period from 
1 April to 30 September 2020 net debt increased by 
only £1.2m. 

The Company carried out detailed financial forecasting 
to access the potential impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the business over the period until March 
2023. These forecasts show that an operating loss and 
an increase in net debt are likely in the year ending 31 
March 2021.

The Company comfortably met all its bank covenants 
at 31 March 2020, but the forecasts showed that due 
to closure covenants would be breached during the 
year ending 31 March 2021 and potentially beyond. This 
depends on what restrictions continue to be imposed 
on the hospitality industry and the rate of business 
recovery once they are removed. The Company 
received covenant waivers or relaxed covenant tests 
from its lenders at 30 June 2020 and 30 September 
2020. 

The restrictions that have been imposed on the 
hospitality industry in terms of capacity reduction 
due to table spacing, the 10.00pm curfew, and the tier 
system followed by the second full lockdown starting 
on 5 November have created further uncertainty and 
make forecasting future performance very difficult.

The Company is having ongoing covenant 
renegotiations with its lenders and will continue 
to do so throughout the duration of its recovery. 
Whilst the directors believe that the current facilities 
should be sufficient to see it through, it is looking to 
put additional revolving credit facilities in place as 
a prudent measure. The Company has very strong 
long-term relationships with its lenders, who are very 
supportive of the Company, and the Directors believe 
that these negotiations will be successful.

Despite the material uncertainties described above, the 
financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as the Board believes that it will be able 
to take the appropriate actions during this ongoing 
period of uncertainty to ensure the long-term future of 
the business.

Kevin Wood

Finance Director
18 November 2020
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PROMOTING THE SUCCESS OF OUR COMPANY
S172 (1) STATEMENT

OUR APPROACH
As you will see elsewhere in this report, our approach 
to the running of the business, which we believe 
underpins its long-term success, is governed by a 
strong set of principles which create a cultural thread 
throughout the Company – the culture exists through 
our teams, but its direction is set by the way the Board 
behaves and operates. 

The success of the Company, in no small part, relies 
on the partnerships and relationships that we form at 
all levels, be it with our employees, our customers, our 
suppliers or any of the other groups that we interact 
with – and so it has been for all of our 213 year history.

As a Board we have a duty to run the business in such 
a way that balances the interests and considerations of 
all of our stakeholders and to promote the business for 
the benefit of our members. 

In governing and directing the business with the 
interests of our members in mind, we must however 
consider the interests of our employees, how we 
manage the ongoing success of our relations and 
dealings with customers and suppliers, ensure that 
we have an eye to our communities and the impact 
that our business has on the environment. An 
overriding concern is also of course understanding 
how we maintain, protect and grow our reputation 
that has been so carefully built up over more than two 
centuries.

These stakeholder considerations are intrinsically 
woven through every decision we make. Often these 
decisions are easy, governed by our principles and just 
who we are as a family business; they come naturally 
as a result of our strong heritage, history and desire to 
run the business with its long terms interests at our 
core. Sometimes we have to take decisions that seem 
at the time to be to the detriment of one of more of 
these groups – when this is the case, we always look 
to be honest and open, we will be fair and reasonable 
so that when history judges those decisions with the 
benefit of hindsight, we have the confidence to stand 
behind them.

In balancing our approach to running the business, 
we know that we are successful when we find that 
our stakeholders want to be associated with Daniel 
Thwaites.

OUR EMPLOYEES

Board Considerations

Our employees and teams are our biggest asset, 
their hard work, dedication and commitment is the 
cornerstone of our success and intrinsic to our future. 
Within the business we are privileged to attract some 
truly talented individuals, as well as benefiting from the 
experience, stability and support of many families who 
have worked with and for Thwaites for decades and 
through different generations of the same family. 

The Board places health, wellbeing and safety at the 

heart of its decision making. The Company offers 
the majority of its permanent employees access to 
a private healthcare scheme and external support 
with mental health counselling, where that is needed. 
Over the past few years, the Board had developed 
the remuneration structure so that it exceeded the 
National Living Wage, and this remains its medium-
term objective, although in the current environment 
there are challenges to this.

During the current COVID-19 pandemic, wherever 
possible our teams have worked from home, 
and where that has not been possible, we have 
implemented our Stay Safe working regime, as the 
wellbeing of our employees is a primary consideration.

Employee Communications

Keeping our teams abreast of developments has 
historically been done through management briefings, 
annual results briefings and a Company newsletter. 

In addition, we operate a company wide open-forum 
social network which has a high level of take up and 
has proved very popular. We have recently moved to 
more regular video updates, which have been very 
effective in quickly reaching our employees, both at 
home and at work. 

Our 2019 employee survey resulted in an engagement 
response level of 73% and an overall engagement score 
of 71%.

Diversity and inclusion

Our preference wherever possible is to create 
development pathways within the business to allow 
for development of an individual’s career, which also 
has the advantage of identifying individuals who have 
a strong cultural fit with the business. The Company 
advertises vacancies both internally and externally, 
with the objective of filling vacancies with the best 
candidate for the role based upon attitude, skills, 
experience and knowledge.

The Company operates an equal opportunities policy 
that looks to promote fairness and not to discriminate 
in any way. It is our policy to give equal opportunity to 
disabled persons where they have the ability to fulfil 
a role and where we are able to provide a role, we will 
support them as part of our family. 

Training and development

From the moment that someone joins our family 
business it is our responsibility to ensure that they feel 
welcome and enabled to do their role to the best of 
their ability. We recruit people who we believe will fit 
well within our business and have a mixture of both on 
the job training, internal and external training to ensure 
that they have the right tools for the job.
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New starters receive an induction into the business 
and onboarding into their role. We have an internal 
review and development process called Elma, which 
is a quite simply a conversation - designed to give 
our managers an opportunity to talk to their team 
members about the difference that they make to the 
Company, how things are going and what personal 
goals we can set to help them to enjoy their job more 
and make more of a difference to the success of our 
business. 

OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Board Considerations

All Board decisions are made with the long-term 
success of the business in mind, which ultimately is in 
the best long-term interests of the members. 

This requires a balance between returns today, in the 
form of dividends, and returns in the future through 
investment that will help to grow the profits and pay 
dividends in years to come. Where these conflict, 
investment today to protect the strength of the 
business in the future will prevail. 

Shareholder Communications

The company responds to shareholder letters and 
queries promptly as they arise, it consults with the 
family representative on key strategic decisions.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

Usually the AGM is held in one of the Company’s 
managed properties, or at the brewery. This has 
not been possible this year, although the Board will 
re-institute this at the first opportunity. The Board 
encourages shareholders to attend in order to meet 
the directors and ask questions. When this is not 
possible the Board encourages all shareholders to 
exercise their voting preferences by using the proxy 
cards that are included in the notice of meeting.

The Company website is regularly updated and 
provides addition information.

OUR COMMUNITIES

Board Considerations

Charitable Giving

Our business is linked into local communities across 
the whole of the north-west of England as well as 
further afield through our network of pubs and hotels, 
as well as being a major employer in and around 
Blackburn. We have a long history of charitable giving 
and we continue to support local charities both around 
our head office and also around our pubs and hotels 
the length and breadth of England. 

The Board sets aside a charitable fund as part of the 
budgeting process each year, based upon affordability, 
on top of which initiatives across the business raise 
additional charitable donations each year. The main 
charity supported by the Company last year was 
Blackburn Youth Zone, which received a charitable 
donation of £25,000.

Energy Usage and Carbon Footprint

The Company has for a long time been a believer in 
investing to reduce its energy consumption and carbon 
footprint both because it is the right thing to do for the 
environment and because judicious investment can 
provide sensible financial returns. Where investment is 
made to reduce the Company’s environmental impact 
the Board applies a slightly reduced hurdle rate to its 
investment returns. 

Waste

One of the largest areas of waste in the hospitality 
industry is food waste. The Board has started to 
monitor food waste and has set an objective to reduce 
this by 35% by 2021.

OUR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Board Considerations

Our business model depends on strong partnerships 
with our suppliers in order to be able to fulfil the 
needs and requirements of our customers. The Board 
promotes the use of local family firms where possible 
in order to support local communities and other family 
businesses. Wherever possible the Board directs that 
the Company should buy British, in order to support 
British businesses and minimise logistics and food 
miles. The Company agrees terms with our suppliers 
and as a matter of principle pays them to those terms 
insofar as there is no dispute. Where possible the 
Board approves multi-year contracts in order to secure 
certainty of supply of goods and services for a known 
period at a known price. During the COVID-19 crisis all 
of our suppliers have continued to be paid to terms.

PENSIONERS

Board Considerations

The Company administers two defined benefit 
pension schemes that were closed to new members 
and future accrual many years ago. The Board is 
wholly committed to meeting the obligations of these 
schemes over time and to funding any deficits over 
periods agreed with the Pension Trustees. 

The Board supervises the funding position of these 
schemes and works with the Trustees on investment 
policy, tactical projects to strengthen the funding 
position and recovery plans with the objective of 
managing the wind down of these schemes in such a 
way that contributions from the Company are balanced 
with risks taken within the schemes whilst not 
jeopardizing the long term sustainable growth of the 
business which ultimately underpins the Company’s 
covenant to the schemes.

KEY DECISIONS
The key decisions that were made during the year were 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and are set out 
on pages 22 to 23.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

ECONOMIC RISKS ECONOMIC MITIGATION

The Company’s business operations are sensitive to 
economic conditions and in particular to consumer 
spending and the uncertainties created by Brexit. 
Changes in economic conditions could affect 
consumer spending and therefore our revenue.

Our business encompasses pubs, hotels and inns, 
with offers targeted at different consumer groups 
giving a degree of diversification. We are reducing 
debt levels by a reduced capital expenditure 
programme, to ensure we have the resources to 
deal with the potential impacts of Brexit.

There is an on-going risk of increases in costs. 
In particular employment costs, including above 
inflation increases in the national living wage, utilities 
and food costs.

All sections of the business are reminded of the 
need to keep the cost base low, and our purchasing 
team negotiates to protect against significant cost 
increases on major inputs.

Our tenants and customers are also affected by 
the economic climate, giving rise to a higher risk of 
tenant defaults and business failures.

The financial health of our tenants is monitored and 
support offered where appropriate. New tenants are 
subject to detailed credit reviews.

Property values are impacted by changes to 
economic conditions, along with our ability to make 
disposals at appropriate values.

The long-term value of our properties is regularly 
assessed. Decisions around investment and disposal 
are made on a site by site basis.

The company has £55m of fixed interest rate swaps 
on which it is committed to paying the difference 
between LIBOR and the fixed rates. The cost of 
servicing the swaps is therefore dependent on 
LIBOR.

The LIBOR rate is monitored on an on-going basis, 
along with the buy out cost of our swaps. Swaps 
are paid off when the Board considers it to be in 
the best interests of the Company based upon 
expectations of future interest rates and the 
financial position of the Company.

REGULATORY RISKS REGULATORY MITIGATION

In recent years the government has increased its 
focus on alcohol consumption as public concern 
over alcohol related social problems and the 
associated health issues has increased. There is a 
risk that further legislation, including additional tax, 
may adversely affect the business.

We are committed to acting responsibly and 
promote safe drinking campaigns in our marketing. 
We ensure that our training covers all aspects of 
licensing legislation.

The beer tie has been the target of ongoing 
government scrutiny. In addition the government is 
currently reviewing legislation on the Pubs Code for 
larger tenanted pub companies. The nature of this 
legislation could negatively impact our tenanted pub 
business.

Our tenanted code of practice has improved the 
transparency and openness of our tied agreements.
We actively monitor proposed legislation and engage 
with the government directly and through trade 
bodies.

A failure to comply with health and safety 
legislation (including food safety, fire legislation) 
could lead to injury, illness or the loss of life of our 
tenants, customers or employees, with a resulting 
reputational impact.

We have a range of policies and procedures in place 
to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements 
in relation to health and safety. Independent risk 
assessments and audits are carried out, and 
recommendations acted upon. We record and 
investigate all incidents.

The company operates defined benefit pension 
schemes. Although the defined benefit pension 
schemes are now closed to new entrants, there 
remains a significant pension liability on the balance 
sheet. There is a risk that a change in legislation 
could impact cash flow by requiring higher 
contributions.

Management continue to closely monitor 
developments in relation to pension scheme 
funding. The company has a plan in place and is 
committed to reducing the deficit.



21thwaites.co.uk

OPERATIONAL RISKS OPERATIONAL MITIGATION

Business operations could be adversely affected 
by any lengthy interruption in supply or large cost 
increases from suppliers which cannot be passed on 
to customers. 

We review the financial position of our major 
suppliers to assess the risk of them ceasing to be 
able to trade.

We are reliant on information systems and 
technology for all areas of the business which could 
adversely affect operations if they were to fail for any 
length of time.

We have appropriate back-up systems, a disaster 
recovery plan and a cyber protection strategy in 
place. We have invested significantly in IT systems 
over recent years and have outsourced the 
management and support of key systems.

The Group operates in highly competitive markets 
and our ability to compete effectively very much 
depends on our success in distinguishing the quality 
of our products and services from those offered by 
others.

We regularly review and invest in our brands and 
marketing in order to distinguish our products and 
services, and are committed to ensuring quality 
throughout.

FINANCIAL RISKS FINANCIAL MITIGATION

We need to ensure that sufficient and appropriate 
bank facilities are in place to meet the ongoing 
funding requirements of the business.

Business decisions are taken with regard to their 
impact on banking arrangements. We meet regularly 
with our bankers and provide them with appropriate 
information on the performance of the business. A 
significant proportion of our debt is long term, by 
way of debentures with the Prudential.

We are reliant on maintaining sound systems of 
internal control to prevent the risk of fraud or 
material error in the financial statements.

We perform a regular review of our internal control 
systems to ensure that they remain appropriate and 
sustainable.

PEOPLE RISKS PEOPLE MITIGATION

Our business is highly reliant on the people we 
employ. Labour or skill shortages, including the 
impact of Brexit, high employee turnover or failure to 
recruit and retain the best employees and tenants 
may impact our ability to deliver our operational and 
strategic objectives.

We aim to recruit the best people with the 
right skills and offer training and development 
opportunities to ensure that we retain them.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

COVID-19
Shortly before the year end, on 20 March 2020, the 
Company closed all its pubs, inns and hotels following 
the directive from the UK Government that all 
hospitality businesses should shut. 

The Company then quickly took all possible steps 
to secure the business, protect cash flow and take 
advantage of the support measures put in place by the 
Government. These included:

- Putting over 90% of the workforce on furlough leave; 

- Only allowing staff in key roles and those securing  
 our properties to work - which meant that the  
 business was operating and being safeguarded by a  
 skeleton team; 

- The Board and Executive team all taking pay cuts of  
 up to 30%; 

- Taking advantage of business rate exemptions  
 across its retail properties, which are available for  
 the 2020/21 business rate period; 

- Assisting pub tenants to claim grants across all the  
 tenanted pub estate which assisted the tenanted  
 pubs to survive and come through the crisis; 

- Claiming pub grants directly where they were   
 available for the pubs that we operate on a   
 managed basis; 

- Negotiating either suspension of contracts with  
 suppliers, or reduced costs during the period of  
 closure; 

- Deferral of VAT payments 

- Temporarily pausing deficit contributions to the  
 defined benefit pension funds; and 

- Putting all non-essential capital expenditure on hold. 

As the preservation of cash was, and will continue to 
be an absolute priority, the Company took the decision 
not to pay a final dividend for the year ending 31 March 
2020. 

After over three months of closure, the Company 
reopened all its pubs, inns and hotels on 4 July 
2020 or shortly thereafter and the leisure facilities, 
swimming pools and spas reopened towards the end 
of July. 

Trade has built steadily from reopening, aided by the 
significant measures of government support in the 
form of the VAT reduction on accommodation, food 
and soft drinks from 20% to 5%, which took effect 
on 15 July 2020 and remains in place until 31 March 
2021. In addition, the Eat Out to Help Out scheme that 
ran during August boosted the number of customers 
coming out to eat in the early part of the week. The 
fine weather and the increase in staycations due to the 
travel restrictions put in place to prevent UK citizens 
from going abroad also assisted our recovery.

Reopening the business, under our “Stay Safe” covid-
friendly operating procedures, has been a significant 
challenge for our teams, but they have done an 
amazing job of getting going and starting on the road 
to rebuild our position. They have helped to build a 
rigorous, safe and comfortable environment for our 
customers whilst balancing that with our fundamental 
objective of providing a warm and welcoming 
environment, being hospitable and making our guests 
feel at ease. 

In our pubs our Area Business Managers have been a 
tremendous support for our tenanted pubs, helping 
them to understand the new environment that we are 
all operating in. They have assisted, where needed, in 
helping our tenanted pub partners to access grants, 
plan for re-opening and providing clear guidance on 
the full range of support that the Company is able to 
offer, including rent concessions and the restocking 
of spoilt beer. It has been our underling objective that 
wherever possible the Company will do everything 
we can to give our tenanted pubs the best chance of 
coming out the other side of this crisis able to re-
establish their business and thrive once more.

Our suppliers have also faced some major challenges 
in restarting a supply chain that had been shut down 
for over three months, and whilst there have been 
some minor issues, their efforts in supplying us during 
reopening have been greatly appreciated.

What has become very clear in reopening is that 
the visibility we had last year on forward bookings 
has been greatly shortened, and we see no sign 
that this will change as we enter the winter. Against 
this background, we unfortunately had to initiate a 
programme of redundancies to ensure our cost base 
reflects the environment that we expect to operate in 
over the coming months.

As we move into the autumn and winter months 
the trading outlook looks more uncertain. The 
10pm curfew, local lockdowns and the Government 
messaging around working from home have knocked 
consumer confidence and had an adverse impact 
on sales over recent weeks. We will continue to 
tightly control costs and cash and take advantage of 
Government support schemes where they are available 
to us.

COVID-19 Industry Standard

In Partnership with;

The National Tourist Organisations of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

In recognition that this business has confirmed that they have followed 
government and industry COVID-19 guidelines, ensuring processes are in 

place to maintain cleanliness and aid social/physical distancing.

Valid 2020
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The Company renewed its banking facilities in the first 
quarter of 2020 and at 31 March 2020 had net debt of 
£65.4m with total facilities of £82m giving it liquidity 
headroom of over £16m. During the period of closure, 
the Company monitored its cash flow very closely and 
at the end of June 2020 net debt had increased to 
£71.8m. Whilst this was an increase of £6.4m during the 
period of closure, £10m of headroom remained against 
the Company’s existing facilities and with the support 
of its banks its banking covenants were relaxed.

The Company carried out detailed financial forecasting 
to assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the business over the period until March 
2023.

The company has reviewed these forecasts with its 
lenders and is currently in discussion with its lenders 
to put in place a revised set of covenants for the 
period until March 2023. It is also looking to increase 
its revolving credit facilities to ensure that the company 
has sufficient liquidity to see it through this crisis.
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OUR PEOPLE
Our people are fundamental to our long-term success. 
This year we introduced the ‘Pride of Thwaites’ awards 
to recognise the significant contribution made by 
both individuals and teams within our business. 
Nominations for the awards were made by colleagues 
and the winners selected by a panel of judges. Awards 
were made in the following categories:

Rising star

Collaboration champions

Business impact

Support of the year

Customer service superstar

Service through hospitality

Community champions

Unsung hero

Manager of the year

Team of the year

Chairman’s award

The awards ceremony was held at the Cottons Hotel 
on 12 January 2020 and was enjoyed and appreciated 
by all those attending.

OUR COMMUNITIES
The communities in which our pubs, inns and hotels 
operate are vitally important to us, and we actively 
encourage our staff to get involved in a wide range 
of fundraising activities and other voluntary activities 
supporting the community.

As well as many charities local to our properties, we 
continue to support Blackburn Youth Zone, a charity 
we have supported since its creation ten years ago. 
The Youth Zone is a facility for young people in the 
Blackburn area to meet and develop their sporting and 
social skills in a safe and supportive environment.

OUR ENVIRONMENT
It is our objective to drive social responsibility through 
our business by doing what we believe to be the 
right thing. Over recent years we have implemented 
a number of initiatives to reduce energy and plastic 
consumption. 

This year we started a project to install solar panels 
where possible on our properties, with the first site 
being the Aztec hotel in Bristol. We contract to buy 
electricity for our properties and ensure that it is 
generated in part from renewable sources. 

We installed electric vehicle charging points at our 
head office and are working to install charging points in 
our hotels. We have updated our company car policy to 
encourage staff to opt for fully electric cars.

We work very closely with our suppliers to offer the 
highest quality sustainable products and wherever 
possible we source local products and services. We 
also buy British wherever possible.

Food wastage is also very high on our agenda, and 
during the year we carried a trial in partnership with 
WRAP in three sites and found that we could reduce 
wastage by up to 40%. We were expecting to roll out 
this initiative across the business during 2020/21.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Richard Bailey, BA, ACA - Executive Chairman
Richard Bailey joined the Board as a non-executive 
director in November 2002. He joined the company 
as Business Development and Strategy Director in 
November 2009. He was appointed Chief Executive in 
March 2011. He qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
with KPMG and has a BA in Economics from Durham 
University. 

Kevin Wood, MEng, ACA - Finance Director
Kevin Wood joined the Board as Finance Director in 
March 2010. He qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
with Pricewaterhouse Coopers, and has an MEng in 
Chemical Engineering from Nottingham University. He 
was previously Finance Director of Accsys Technologies 
plc and held senior finance roles with Arla Foods, 
Express Dairies and Lloyds Pharmacy.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mrs Ann Yerburgh, DL
Ann Yerburgh was appointed to the Board in March 
1974 and was Chairman from August 2000 until March 
2019. She chairs the remuneration committee.

Andrew Stothert
Andrew Stothert was appointed as an independent 
non-executive director on 1 January 2019. He is the 
Chief Executive of Brand Vista and one of its founding 
partners.

Oscar Yerburgh, MA
Oscar Yerburgh was appointed to the Board on 1 June 
2016, and represents the wider ownership interests of 
the Yerburgh family.

Mark Fisher, BA
Mark Fisher was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 1 June 2019. He is currently the 
Chief Development Officer for Merlin Entertainments 
plc, responsible for their business development, 
creative and brands organisation. 

COMPANY SECRETARY

Susan Woodward, ACIS
Susan Woodward was appointed Company Secretary in 
December 2004. She joined the company in 1978, and 
is a qualified Chartered Secretary.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

GOVERNANCE



The directors of Daniel Thwaites PLC submit their 
report and accounts for the financial year ended 31 
March 2020.

ACTIVITIES
The Group’s principal activity is the operation of pubs, 
inns and hotels.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE 
DEVELOPMENTS

This report should be read in conjunction with the 
Chairman’s Statement and the Strategic Report, which 
are incorporated in this report by reference and which 
provide further details of the Group’s activities during 
the year, likely future developments and the risk 
management objectives and policies.

DIVIDENDS
The directors have not recommended a final dividend 
due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

DIRECTORS
The directors who held office during the year are set 
out below:

Richard Bailey, BA, ACA (Executive Chairman)
Kevin Wood, MEng, ACA (Finance Director)
Ann Yerburgh, DL* 
Oscar Yerburgh, MA
†Andrew Stothert* 
†Mark Fisher* (appointed 1 June 2019)

*Member of the Remuneration Committee
†Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association, Oscar Yerburgh retired by rotation and 
was re-elected at the Annual General Meeting on 30 
September 2020.

None of the directors had any material interest during 
the year in any contract of significance in relation to 
the Group’s business.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY
The directors have the benefit of the indemnity 
provision contained in the Company’s Articles of 
Association. This provision, which is a qualifying third 
party indemnity provision, was in force throughout the 
current financial year and remains in force at the date 
of this report.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
It is the policy of the Group to keep employees 
regularly informed on matters of importance and 
interest. The directors also give attention to all aspects 
of health and safety within the Group as well as giving 
disabled persons full and fair consideration in respect 
of employment, training, career development and 
promotion. There are also opportunities for employees 
who become disabled to continue in their employment 
or to be retained for other positions within the Group.
Further information can be found in the Section 172(1) 
Statement on pages 18 to 19.

ENGAGEMENT WITH KEY 
STAKEHOLDERS
In accordance with the Large and Medium Sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 (as amended by the Companies 
(Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018), the 
Companies Statement on engagement with key 
stakeholders is contained within the Section 172(1) 
Statement on pages 18 to 19.

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL 
CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group made charitable contributions of £39,000 
including a £25,000 contribution to Blackburn Youth 
Zone during the year. The Group made no political 
contributions.

STREAMLINED ENERGY 
AND CARBON REPORTING
This is the first year that the Company has been 
required to report under the Government policy 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR), as 
implemented by the Companies (Directors’ Report) 
and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon 
Report) Regulations 2018.

Consumption (kWh) and Greenhouse 
gas emissions (tCO

2
e)

The data below includes the brewery, head office and 
managed sites. Tenanted pub sites are not included as 
the company is not responsible for, and does not have 
visibility of, the consumption.

 2020 2020

 Consumption Consumption 
 (kWh) (tCO

2
e)

Grid-supplied 13,177,765 3,368.24 
Electricity (scope 1)

Gaseous and other 22,702,048 4,174.79 
fuels (scope 2)

Transportation 875,863 212.38

Total 36,755,676 7,755.41

Note

Scope 1: consumption and emissions relate to indirect 
emissions relating to the consumption of purchased 
electricity in day to day business operations.

Scope 2: consumption and emissions relate to direct 
combustion of natural gas, and fuels utilised for company 
vehicle fleets.

Intensity Metrics

 2020

tCO
2
e/£m Turnover 

(excluding tenanted pubs) 119.34

tCO
2
/FTE 6.29

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS
So far as the Company is aware the following 
shareholders held legal or beneficial interests in 
ordinary shares of the company exceeding 3% as at 31 
March 2020:

Mrs A Yerburgh  .........................................................................  6.3%
Yerburgh Family Settlement Trusts  ............................. 34.2%
Albany Trustees  ...................................................................... 14.8%

CLOSE COMPANY PROVISIONS 
In the opinion of the directors the Company is a close 
company within the definition of the Corporation Tax 
Act 2010.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S AUDITOR 
The directors who held office at the date of approval of 
this Directors’ Report confirm that: 

• so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s auditor is 
unaware; and

• each director has taken all the steps that he or she 
ought to have taken as a director (i) to make himself 
or herself aware of any relevant audit information 
and (ii) to establish that the Company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

AUDITOR
In accordance with section 489 of the Companies Act 
2006, BDO LLP were reappointed at the Annual General 
Meeting. 

By order of the Board

Mrs S I Woodward
Secretary
18 November 2020

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS continued



29thwaites.co.uk

The Board has put in place a framework for Corporate 
Governance which it believes is appropriate to the 
Company. The Board is committed to maintaining the 
highest standards, but is not required to comply with 
all aspects of the principles of good governance set 
out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. 

The following statement describes how the Board has 
applied the principles of Corporate Governance. 

THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES 
The Board includes two executive and four non-
executive directors. All appointments to the Board 
are for a specified term. All directors are subject to 
re-election by rotation, one third of their number each 
year and their re-election is subject to shareholder 
approval. All newly appointed directors stand for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment. All the directors of the Company are 
resident in the UK and bring a wide range of skills and 
experience to the Board. The Board meets regularly 
throughout the year and has matters referred to it 
for approval including strategy, annual budgets, the 
rolling five year financial plan, general treasury and risk 
management policies. 

Major capital acquisitions and disposals are authorised 
by the Board which also monitors the post investment 
performance. 

There is an established procedure whereby directors, 
in furtherance of their duties, may take independent 
professional advice at the expense of the Company. 
The Board ensures that all directors continually update 
the skills and knowledge required to fulfil their role 
both on the Board and on board committees. All 
directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary. 

The Board has not established an Audit Committee as 
the directors consider that the current arrangements 
with the external Auditor are effective. The Board 
regularly monitors and reviews the Auditor’s 
independence, objectivity and effectiveness. The 
Auditor meets with the non-executive directors prior 
to the commencement of the audit and attends the 
board meeting at which the annual accounts are 
approved. The Board gives full consideration to all 
reports received from the Auditor. 

As all Board appointments are formally considered 
by the Board, there is no need for a Nominations 
Committee.

REMUNERATION REPORT
The Remuneration Committee meets regularly and, 
having taken the relevant advice, determines on 
behalf of the Board the remuneration package of 
the executive directors and other senior executives. 
The Remuneration Committee aims to ensure that 
remuneration packages are competitive and designed 
to attract, retain and motivate directors and executives 
of the right calibre.

In particular, the Committee has regard to the levels 
of remuneration in the Group and in specific sectors 
and businesses with which it competes and is also 
sensitive to salary levels in the wider community. The 
Group operates performance related reward policies, 
designed to provide the correct balance between fixed 
and variable remuneration.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility for 
all aspects of the system of internal control and risk 
management and for reviewing its effectiveness. During 
the year both the internal control and risk management 
systems have been reviewed by the Board. 

In establishing these systems, the directors have 
considered the nature of the Group’s business with 
regard to the risks to which the business is exposed, 
the likelihood of such risks occurring and the costs 
of protecting against them. The system is designed 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

The primary responsibility for the day to day operation 
of the systems of internal control and the identified 
primary risks facing the Group is delegated to the 
Executive Directors. 

The following key features of the system, which have 
remained unchanged during the year, are:

• reports to the Board from operating divisions on a 
regular basis

• comprehensive annual budgeting with results 
reported monthly against budget

• forecasts regularly updated and reported to the 
Board

• cash flow forecasting on a rolling five-year basis

• capital expenditure feasibility reports with post 
completion appraisals

• physical and computer security issues and 
contingency planning

• well-structured financial and administration 
functions reporting regularly to the Board

• risk management review and monitoring of those 
risks

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Communications with shareholders are given a high 
priority with information provided regularly in interim 
and annual financial statements and any issues 
of concern can be addressed to the Board by any 
shareholder. All shareholders are encouraged to attend 
the Annual General Meeting where they are given an 
opportunity to question the Chairman and the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to 
the Annual Report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law they have elected to prepare the group and parent 
company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the group and parent company and of their profit or 
loss for that period. In preparing each of the group and 
parent company financial statements, the directors are 
required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; 

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the group and the parent company will continue 
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the parent company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the parent company and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably 
open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. Legislation in 
the UK governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT OF THE 
DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with the applicable set of accounting standards, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of the company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as 
a whole; and

• the strategic report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business 
and the position of the issuer and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.

By order of the Board

Susan Woodward
Company Secretary
18 November 2020
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OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Daniel Thwaites PLC (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Group Profit and Loss Account,  the Group 
and Parent Company Balance Sheet, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the Group 
Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group and Company financial 
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 
102 The Financial Reporting Standard in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2020 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the Group and Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to page 40 regarding the ongoing negotiations of existing covenants and the uncertainty over 
the length and severity of future restrictions, which may lead to a requirement to further negotiate covenants and 
potentially increase banking facilities. As stated at page 40, these events or conditions indicate that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Due to the level of uncertainty over future restrictions, and the additional impact of COVID-19, and the significant 
assumptions required to be made by the Directors in considering going concern a significant audit risk has been 
identified since the planning stage of the audit, and accordingly, going concern has been considered to be a key 
audit matter.

In respect of this key audit matter we carried out the following procedures:

• Obtained an understanding of the required financing facilities by reviewing third party documentation, including 
the nature of the facilities, repayment terms, covenants and attached conditions;

• Assessed the facility and covenant compliance headroom calculations with the existing and proposed covenants 
on both a base case scenario and the Directors’ reverse stress test as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic;

• Obtained an understanding of the monthly cash burn rates in each scenario and therefore how long the current 
headroom would last;

• Challenged the appropriateness of the Directors’ assessment of going concern by testing the mechanical 
accuracy, assessing historical forecasting accuracy, understanding the Directors’ consideration of downside 
sensitivity and the impact on facilities and covenants;

INDEPENDENT
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• Reviewed mitigating actions and cost savings proposed by the Directors for their ability to be implemented and 
the implementation to be done on a timely basis, and

• Considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements against the requirements of the 
accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: 
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to going concern above, 
we have identified the following key audit matter:

VALUATION OF PROPERTIES
Land and properties include properties revalued both internally by the groups own professional staff and externally 
by external valuation experts. Given the size of the valuation of these properties on the group’s balance sheet and 
the judgemental nature of valuations, a small change in the assumptions and estimates used in this valuation could 
lead to a significant and material impact on the group’s total assets, and we have therefore determined this to be 
a key audit matter. The relevant accounting policy is discussed at page 41, along with the significant estimates and 
judgements. The revaluations during the period are discussed at Note 10.

As disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements, as required by RICS, the valuer has included a paragraph in 
their report that explains that as a result of the impact of the outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID 19) on the 
market, less certainty, and a higher degree of caution, should be attached to the valuation than would normally be 
the case.

HOW WE ADDRESS THE MATTER IN OUR AUDIT
We obtained assurance over the valuation by obtaining a breakdown of the property portfolio valuation for the year 
and agreed the externally valued properties to third party supporting documentation. The internally valued property 
calculations were re-cast and checked to ensure the methodology has been applied consistently throughout the 
portfolio. We assessed both the internal and external valuers’ objectivity and professional qualifications through a 
review of their qualifications and review of reports produced. 

We used our internal valuations experts to review the outputs from the third party valuation to check the 
methodology used was in line with industry standards. We considered the conclusions highlighted by the external 
valuer in regards to the certainty of the valuation and the impact this would have on our audit opinion. We 
challenged management on a sample of valuations that had moved significantly year on year to understand if this 
level of movement was justified. 

For a sample of the internal valuations we reviewed key inputs to the model to check that the key estimates used 
by management were appropriate and in line with the ranges indicated by the external valuations completed. If the 
inputs were outside the indicated range, further enquires were made of management as to the recoverability of the 
asset carrying value.

We considered whether the financial statements show adequate disclosure of the revaluation amounts, external 
valuer’s qualifications and the valuation methodology.  

KEY OBSERVATIONS
Based on the procedures performed the valuation of the property portfolio is in line with industry standards and 
the values entered into the financial statements are reasonable. The disclosures in the financial statements are in 
line with accounting standards.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the effect of identified 
misstatements on the audit in forming our audit opinion. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which 
misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be 
evaluated as immaterial as we also take into account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.

The materiality for the Group audit as a whole was set at £3,000,000 (2019: £3,100,000) and was calculated at 1% 
of the group’s total assets (2019: 1% of the group’s total assets) as we believe this is of most interest for the users 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued
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of the financial statements as it shows the strength of the balance sheet . The parent company is the only non-
dormant company within the Group therefore the parent company materiality is equal to the Group materiality.

Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level set at an 
amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance materiality was set at 
70% of materiality at £2,100,000 (2019: 65% of materiality at £2,015,000).  We selected this level of performance 
materiality based on a low level of adjustments in the prior year and the existence of a strong overall control 
environment. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report any corrected and uncorrected misstatements 
exceeding £90,000 (2019: £124,000) in addition to other audit adjustments that warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds.

In addition to the above, we applied a materiality of £180,000 (2019: £480,000) to revenue, cost of sales, 
administrative expenses and distribution expenses for which we believe misstatements of lesser amounts than 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole could be reasonably expected to influence the users of the 
financial statements assessment of the financial performance of the group. This materiality was calculated based 
on 5% of the group’s profit before tax.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT
The parent company Daniel Thwaites PLC is the only trading company in the group with all subsidiary companies 
being dormant throughout the year, as such we have completed an audit on the group as a single aggregated set 
of financial statements. Our audit was risk based and  was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and 
assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements at the group level.

OTHER INFORMATION
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report and Accounts other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website : www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report.

USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent 
Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Stuart Wood (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor

Manchester, UK
18 November 2020

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued
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GROUP PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 March 2020

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019

Note £m £m

Turnover 1 98.1 96.9 

Cost of sales (74.1) (72.8)

Gross profit 24.0 24.1 

Distribution costs (3.8) (3.7)

Administrative expenses (8.4) (7.5)

Operating profit before highlighted item and property disposals 2 11.8 12.9 

Highlighted item - GMP adjustment for past service - (1.2)

Property disposals 0.8 0.1 

Operating profit 12.6 11.8 

Net interest payable 4 (3.9) (3.9)

Loss on interest rate swaps measured at fair value 15 (4.5) (2.5)

Finance charge on pension liability 9 (0.6) (0.9)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1 3.6 4.5 

Taxation on profit for the year 5 (0.3) (1.0)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 3.3 3.5 

Earnings per share 7 5.6p 5.9p

2020 2019

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 3.3 3.5 

Surplus (deficit) on revaluation of land and properties 2.4 (3.0)

Recognised actuarial (loss) gain on pension schemes (7.7) 10.4 

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial loss (gain) 1.4 (1.8)

Total recognised (losses) gains for the year (0.6) 9.1 

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 March 2020

The accounts on pages 35 to 56 were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 18 November 2020 and signed on 
its behalf by:

Richard Bailey
Chairman

Kevin Wood
Finance Director

Company Registered No. 51702

2020 2019

Note £m £m

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets 10 297.5 298.0 

Investments 11 0.8 0.8 

298.3 298.8 

Current Assets

Stocks 13 0.5 0.7 

Trade and other debtors 14 11.1 9.8 

Cash at bank and in hand 0.5 3.8 

12.1 14.3 

Creditors due within one year

Trade and other creditors 15 (13.3) (15.2)

Loan capital and bank overdraft 16 (0.4) (28.5)

(13.7) (43.7)

Net current liabilities (1.6) (29.4)

Total assets less current liabilities 296.7 269.4 

Creditors due after one year 15 (86.9) (63.9)

Net assets excluding pension liability 209.8 205.5 

Pension liability 9 (32.3) (24.8)

Net assets including pension liability 177.5 180.7 

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 19 14.7 14.7 

Capital redemption reserve 20 1.1 1.1 

Revaluation reserve 20 75.8 74.1 

Profit and loss account 85.9 90.8 

Equity shareholders' funds 177.5 180.7 
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GROUP AND PARENT STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Called-up 
share 

capital

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Profit and 
loss 

account
£m £m £m £m £m

Group

At 31 March 2018 14.7 1.1 77.5 80.9 174.2 

Profit for the year - - - 3.5 3.5 

Recognised actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - 10.4 10.4 

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial gain - - - (1.8) (1.8)

Deficit on property revaluation - - (3.0) - (3.0)

Total comprehensive income - - (3.0) 12.1 9.1 

Dividends paid - - - (2.6) (2.6)

Revaluation element of depreciation charge - - - - - 

Transfer on disposal of properties - - (0.4) 0.4 - 

At 31 March 2019 14.7 1.1 74.1 90.8 180.7 

Profit for the year - - - 3.3 3.3 

Recognised actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - (7.7) (7.7)

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial loss - - - 1.4 1.4 

Surplus on property revaluation - - 2.4 - 2.4 

Total comprehensive income - - 2.4 (3.0) (0.6)

Dividends paid - - - (2.6) (2.6)

Revaluation element of depreciation charge - - (0.1) 0.1 - 

Transfer on disposal of properties - - (0.6) 0.6 - 

At 31 March 2020 14.7 1.1 75.8 85.9 177.5 

Called-up 
share 

capital

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Profit and 
loss 

account
£m £m £m £m £m

Parent

At 31 March 2018 14.7 1.1 52.2 105.1 173.1 

Profit for the year - - - 1.9 1.9 

Recognised actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - 10.4 10.4 

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial gain - - - (1.8) (1.8)

Deficit on property revaluation - - (1.4) - (1.4)

Total comprehensive income - - (1.4) 10.5 9.1 

Dividends paid - - - (2.6) (2.6)

Revaluation element of depreciation charge - - - - - 

Transfer on disposal of properties - - (0.3) 0.3 - 

At 31 March 2019 14.7 1.1 50.5 113.3 179.6 

Profit for the year - - - 3.0 3.0 

Recognised actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - (7.7) (7.7)

Movement on deferred tax relating to actuarial loss - - - 1.4 1.4 

Surplus on property revaluation - - 2.7 - 2.7 

Total comprehensive income - - 2.7 (3.3) (0.6)

Dividends paid - - - (2.6) (2.6)

Revaluation element of depreciation charge - - (0.1) 0.1 - 

Transfer on disposal of properties - - (0.6) 0.6 - 

At 31 March 2020 14.7 1.1 52.5 108.1 176.4
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019

£m £m

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit 11.8 11.7 

Non cash items

   - Depreciation 7.7 7.6 

   - Others including profit or loss on sale of fixed assets 0.3 (0.2)

   - GMP adjustment for past service - 1.2 

Defined benefit pension contributions (0.8) (1.8)

Movement in working capital

   - Stocks 0.2 (0.1)

   - Debtors 1.2 (0.5)

   - Creditors (1.7) 1.3 

Cash flow from operating activities 18.7 19.2 

Tax paid (1.5) (2.1)

Net cash flow from operating activities 17.2 17.1 

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (10.8) (19.5)

Receipts from disposal of tangible fixed assets 6.3 4.9 

Trade loans advanced (0.6) (0.7)

Trade loans repaid 0.7 0.6 

Net cash flow from investing activities (4.4) (14.7)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid on loans and overdrafts (4.1) (4.0)

Interest paid on interest rate swaps (1.9) (1.9)

Interest received 0.1 0.1 

(Repayment) additional unsecured bank loans (8.0) 7.0 

Equity dividends paid (2.6) (2.6)

Net cash flow from financing activities (16.5) (1.4)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (3.7) 1.0 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3.8 2.8 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (0.1) 3.8 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash at bank and in hand 0.5 3.8 

Bank overdraft (0.4) - 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 3.8 

Loan capital (65.5) (73.5)

Net debt (65.4) (69.7)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

(Decrease) increase in cash (3.7) 1.0 

Cash flow from decrease (increase) in debt 8.0 (7.0)

4.3 (6.0)

Net debt at beginning of year (69.7) (63.7)

Net debt at end of year (65.4) (69.7)
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PARENT BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 March 2020

The accounts on pages 35 to 56 were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 18 November 2020 and signed on 
its behalf by:

Richard Bailey
Chairman

Kevin Wood
Finance Director

Company Registered No. 51702

2020 2019

Note £m £m

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets 10 297.5 298.0 

Investments 11 0.8 0.8 

Investment in subsidiary undertakings 12 11.5 11.5 

309.8 310.3 

Current Assets

Stocks 13 0.5 0.7 

Trade and other debtors 14 11.1 9.8 

Cash at bank and in hand 0.5 3.8 

12.1 14.3 

Creditors due within one year

Trade and other creditors 15 (25.9) (27.8)

Loan capital and bank overdraft 16 (0.4) (28.5)

(26.3) (56.3)

Net current liabilities (14.2) (42.0)

Total assets less current liabilities 295.6 268.3 

Creditors due after one year 15 (86.9) (63.9)

Net assets excluding pension liability 208.7 204.4 

Pension liability 9 (32.3) (24.8)

Net assets 176.4 179.6 

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 19 14.7 14.7 

Capital redemption reserve 20 1.1 1.1 

Revaluation reserve 20 52.5 50.5 

Profit and loss account 108.1 113.3 

Equity shareholders' funds 176.4 179.6 

The parent company made a profit of £3.0m (2019: £1.9m).

Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt 
from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
Daniel Thwaites PLC is a Public Limited Company 
incorporated and domiciled in the UK.

The Group and Company have applied FRS102 (March 
2018) in these Financial Statements, which includes the 
amendments as a result of the Technical Review 2017.

The Company’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position are set out in the Operating 
Review and the Risks and Uncertainties section of the 
Strategic Report. The financial position of the Company, 
its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities 
are described in the Financial Review section of the 
Strategic Report. As a consequence, the directors 
believe that the Company is well placed to manage its 
business risks successfully.

The financial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis except that the following assets 
and liabilities are stated at their fair value: derivative 
financial instruments, financial instruments classified 
at fair value through the profit or loss, investment 
property, tangible fixed assets measured in accordance 
with the revaluation model. 

GOING CONCERN
The Company renewed its bank facilities in March 
2020, putting in place revolving credit facilities of 
£35m, which together with overdraft facilities of £2m 
and the long-term loan of £45m, resulted in total 
facilities of £82m, giving headroom of £16.6m at 31 
March 2020. The Company has carried out detailed 
financial forecasting to access the potential impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic on the business over the 
period until March 2023. These forecasts have been 
used to develop the Company’s strategic response 
to the pandemic and to engage with its stakeholders. 
These forecasts have been reviewed with its banks 
and the Prudential, and are the basis of negotiations 
to put in place a revised set of covenants to meet the 
expected recovery of the business. At the same time, 
discussions are taking place with a view to increasing 
revolving credit facilities as a prudent measure to 
ensure the Company has sufficient liquidity to see it 
through this crisis. However, the additional restrictions 
being placed on the hospitality industry in terms of the 
10.00pm curfew, the tier system and the second full 
lockdown from 5 November 2020 mean that forecasts 
are continually being updated. Due to the ongoing 
negotiations of existing covenants and uncertainty 
over the length and severity of future restrictions, 
which may lead to a requirement to further negotiate 
covenants and potentially increase bank facilities, 
these factors indicate the existence of material 
uncertainties that may cause significant doubt on 

the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. The directors believe that covenant and 
facility negotiations will have a satisfactory outcome 
and for this reason they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the annual financial 
statements. The financial statements do not include 
any adjustments that would arise should the group or 
the parent be unable to continue as a going concern.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES
The key area of judgement is the assessment of 
impairment of the Group’s properties. The directors 
review the book value of each individual property 
on an annual basis taking into account current and 
prospective levels of trade and industry published 
trading multiples based on the location, mix of 
business and sustainability of that business.

It is difficult to apply a sensitivity to this assessment of 
impairment as trading multiples vary by business type, 
mix of business and location. In addition, alternative 
use and development options for properties are 
also taken into account when assessing potential 
impairments.

The deficits on the defined benefit pension schemes 
are determined using actuarial assumptions. Due 
to the long-term nature of these liabilities, the 
assumptions around life expectancy and discount rates 
are subject to a degree of estimation (see Note 9).

Whilst judgements and estimates have been made in 
assessing asset values and provisions, the directors 
consider the risk of material adjustment in the next 
year to be low.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings made up to 31 March 2020. A subsidiary 
is an entity that is controlled by the parent. The 
results of subsidiary undertakings are included in the 
consolidated profit and loss account from the date 
that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. Control is established when the Company 
has the power to govern the operating and financial 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into 
consideration potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable.

Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the 
Company is exempt from the requirement to present 
its own profit and loss account.

FINANCIAL
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Under FRS 102 (Sections 1.8 and 1.12) the Company 
is exempt from the requirement to present its own 
statement of cash flows.

In the parent financial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items of tangible fixed assets, for example 
land is treated separately from buildings. The company 
assesses at each reporting date whether tangible fixed 
assets are impaired.  

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated. 
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

• Buildings: periods up to 50 years

• plant and equipment: periods between 3 and 25 
years

• fixtures and fittings: periods between 5 and 15 
years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant 
change since last annual reporting date in the pattern 
by which the company expects to consume an asset’s 
future economic benefits. 

Residual value is based on prices prevailing at the 
date of acquisition or subsequent valuation. Where, 
because of high estimated residual value, depreciation 
is immaterial, no depreciation is charged but an annual 
review for impairment is performed. Both residual 
values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.

The profit or loss on disposal of properties is the 
difference between the net amount realised and book 
value. Valuation differences realised on disposal are 
transferred from the revaluation reserve to the profit 
and loss account reserve.

It is the Groups policy to value 20% of its properties 
by external valuers each year, so that all properties are 
externally valued over a 5 year period. 

Land and properties include properties revalued by 
external valuers and the Group’s own professionally 
qualified staff.

The freehold industrial buildings are stated at cost, 
less provision for depreciation and impairments. The 
brewery land held for redevelopment is stated at 
valuation.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
the fixed asset may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.

A revaluation loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Revaluation losses are recognised in the profit and 
loss account unless it arises on a previously revalued 
fixed asset. A revaluation loss on a revalued fixed 
asset is recognised in the profit and loss account 
if it is caused by a clear consumption of economic 
benefits. Otherwise revaluations are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income until the carrying 
amount reaches the asset’s depreciated historic cost. 
Thereafter, revaluation losses are recognised in the 
profit and loss account unless it can be demonstrated 
that the recoverable amount of the asset is greater 
than its revalued amount, in which case the loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the asset 
is greater than its revalued amount.

Revaluation gains are recognised in the profit and 
loss account only to the extent (after adjusting for 
subsequent depreciation) that they reverse revaluation 
losses on the same asset that were previously 
recognised in the profit and loss account. All other 
revaluation gains are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

INVESTMENTS
The Group’s long-term trade loans are recognised as 
investments within fixed assets and are stated at cost 
less amounts provided for impairment losses.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments 
in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less 
amounts written off as impairment losses.

STOCKS
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost 
is based on the first-in first-out principle and 
includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the stocks, 
production or conversion costs and other costs in 
bringing them to their existing location and condition. 
In the case of manufactured stocks and work in 
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of 
overheads based on normal operating capacity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments are classified and accounted 
for, according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangement, as financial assets, financial liabilities 
or equity instruments. An equity instrument is any 
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of the company after deducting all of its liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instrument in the form of interest 
rate swaps are recognised at fair value The gain or 
loss on re-measurement is recognised immediately in 
the profit and loss account. Hedge accounting is not 
carried out.

Interest-bearing borrowings 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised at 
transaction price adjusted for transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing 
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances 
and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s 
cash management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the 
cash flow statement.

TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS / 
CREDITORS
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at 
transaction price less attributable transaction costs. 
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at 
transaction price plus attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses in the case of trade 
debtors. 

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
(INCLUDING TRADE AND OTHER 
DEBTORS)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of 
that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. For financial instruments measured at cost 
less impairment, an impairment is calculated as 
the difference between its carrying amount and 
the best estimate of the amount that the Company 

would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at 
the reporting date. Interest on the impaired asset 
continues to be recognised through the unwinding 
of the discount. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease 
in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

LOANS TO AND FROM SUBSIDIARIES
Loans to and from subsidiaries are non-interest 
bearing and have no fixed repayment dates, and are 
therefore disclosed as current assets or liabilities in the 
parent balance sheet.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment 
benefit plan under which the company pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the 
profit and loss account in the periods during which 
services are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment 
benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 
The entity’s net obligation in respect of defined 
benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan 
by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted 
to determine its present value. The fair value of any 
plan assets is deducted. The entity determines the net 
interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount 
rate as determined at the beginning of the annual 
period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) taking 
account of changes arising as a result of contributions 
and benefit payments.

The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet 
date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the 
currency of, and having maturity dates approximating 
to the terms of the entity’s obligations. A valuation is 
performed annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. The entity recognises 
net defined benefit plan assets to the extent that it 
is able to recover the surplus either through reduced 
contributions in the future or through refunds from the 
plan.

Changes in the net defined benefit liability arising from 
employee service rendered during the period, net 
interest on net defined benefit liability, and the cost of 
plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and 
settlements during the period are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/
asset is recognised in other comprehensive income in 
the period in which it occurs.
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TURNOVER
Turnover represents amounts recognised by the Group 
in respect of goods and services supplied, exclusive 
of Value added Tax and trade discounts. Revenue 
principally consists of food, drink and accommodation 
sales, which are recognised at the point at which 
goods or services are provided, rental income which is 
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term 
and machine income, where net takings are recognised 
as earned.

OPERATING LEASE 
Payments (excluding costs for services and insurance) 
made under operating leases are recognised in the 
profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease unless the payments to the lessor 
are structured to increase in line with expected general 
inflation; in which case the payments related to the 
structured increases are recognised as incurred. Lease 
incentives received are recognised in profit and loss 
over the term of the lease as an integral part of the 
total lease expense.

INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND INTEREST 
PAYABLE 

Interest payable and similar charges include interest 
payable, finance charges on shares classified as 
liabilities and finance leases recognised in profit or 
loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of 
the discount on provisions. Borrowing costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of an asset that takes a substantial time to 
be prepared for use, are expensed as incurred. 

Other interest receivable and similar income include 
interest receivable on funds invested. 

Interest income and interest payable are recognised 
in profit or loss as they accrue, using the effective 
interest method. 

TAXATION
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises 
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
profit and loss account except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised 
directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable 
on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which 
arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in 
tax assessments in periods different from those in 
which they are recognised in the financial statements. 
The following timing differences are not provided for: 
differences between accumulated depreciation and 
tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when 
all conditions for retaining the tax allowances have 
been met; and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries, to the extent that it is not probable that 
they will reverse in the foreseeable future and the 
reporting entity is able to control the reversal of the 
timing difference. Deferred tax is not recognised on 
permanent differences arising because certain types of 
income or expense are non-taxable or are disallowable 
for tax or because certain tax charges or allowances 
are greater or smaller than the corresponding income 
or expense.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is 
expected to apply to the reversal of the related 
difference, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. For non-
depreciable assets that are measured using the 
revaluation model, or investment property that is 
measured at fair value, deferred tax is provided at 
the rates and allowances applicable to the sale of 
the asset/property. Deferred tax balances are not 
discounted.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that is it probable that 
they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred 
tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. 

Deferred tax is recognised on asset revaluations and 
rolled over taxable gains to the extent that the taxable 
gains are not offset by carried forward and future 
taxable losses.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. TURNOVER AND SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Turnover comprises sales to external customers, rents and other trading income, excluding value added tax.

2. OPERATING PROFIT

3. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The accounting policy for identifying segments is based on internal management reporting information that is 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.

The highlighted item of £nil (2019 £1.2m) represents the impact on the pension scheme liabilities as a result of GMP 
equalisation.

Turnover Profit before tax Net assets

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Segmental analysis

Turnover (all from UK trade), profit before tax and net assets:

Pubs and Inns 52.8 52.7 14.5 14.3 175.5 176.4 

Hotels 45.3 44.2 6.5 6.3 121.1 117.7 

Group Central Charges - - (8.4) (7.6) - - 

GMP adjustment for past service - - - (1.2) - - 

Net interest payable - - (4.5) (4.8) - - 

Loss on interest rate swaps measured at fair value - - (4.5) (2.5) - - 

98.1 96.9 3.6 4.5 296.6 294.1 

Net pension liability - - - - (32.3) (24.8)

Financial liability for interest rate swaps - - - - (21.4) (18.9)

Net debt - - - - (65.4) (69.7)

98.1 96.9 3.6 4.5 177.5 180.7 

2020 2019

£m £m

Operating profit is stated after charging:

Highlighted item - 1.2 

Depreciation 7.7 7.6 

Operating leases - plant and equipment 0.3 0.3 

Operating leases - property 0.1 0.1 

Pension Schemes - defined benefit 0.6 0.6

Pension Schemes - defined contribution 0.7 0.6

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Fees payable:

Statutory audit fees (for the parent and the group) 45.5 45.5 

FINANCIAL
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4. INTEREST PAYABLE

5. TAXATION

The difference between the total tax charge and the amount calculated at the standard rate of corporation tax in the 
UK of 19% is explained below:

Factors that may affect future tax charges:

An increase in the future main corporation tax rate to 19% from 1 April 2020, from the previously enacted 17%, was 
announced at the budget on 11 March 2020, and substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. The deferred tax asset at 31 
March 2020 has been calculated based on these rates.

2020 2019

£m £m

Interest payable:

On variable rate loans and overdrafts 0.8 0.8 

On fixed rate loans 3.2 3.2 

4.0 4.0 

Interest receivable and similar income (0.1) (0.1)

3.9 3.9 

2020 2019

£m £m

The tax charge comprises:

Current tax

UK corporation tax at 19% 1.5 1.4 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.1) (0.1)

1.4 1.3 

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences (note 18) (0.1) 0.2 

Increase in tax rate - - 

Pension cost relief in excess of pension cost charge including effect of rate changes (note 18) (0.5) (0.1)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.5) (0.4)

(1.1) (0.3)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 0.3 1.0 

2020 2019

£m £m

Profit for the year 3.3 3.5 

Total tax expense 0.3 1.0 

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 3.6 4.5 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of corporation tax 0.7 0.9 

Disallowed expenses 0.7 0.6 

Increase in tax rate on deferred tax balances (0.5) - 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.6) (0.5)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 0.3 1.0 
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6. DIVIDENDS PAID

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

8. STAFF COSTS

2020 2019

£m £m

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 3.3 3.5 

Highlighted item GMP equalisation - 1.2 

Loss on interest rate swaps measured at fair value 4.5 2.5 

Underlying profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 7.8 7.2 

Number Number

'000 '000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 58,828 58,827 

Earnings per share 5.6p 5.9p

Underlying earnings per share 13.3p 12.2p

Full time Part time

2020 2019 2020 2019

No. No. No. No.

The average number of persons employed by the Group was:

Pubs and Inns 250 214 277 343 

Hotels 518 480 436 495 

Group central services 72 73 8 8 

840 767 721 846 

2020 2019

£m £m

2018 final - 2.0 

2019 interim - 0.6 

2019 final 2.0 - 

2020 interim 0.6 - 

2.6 2.6 

2020 2019

£m £m

Wages and salaries 26.4 25.2 

Social security costs 1.9 1.8 

Other pension costs 0.7 0.6 

Expenses related to defined benefit scheme 0.6 0.6 

29.6 28.2 

The 2019 final dividend of 3.36p per share was paid on 23 July 2019 to shareholders on the register on 28 June 
2019. The 2020 interim dividend of 1.10p per share was paid on 2 January 2020 to shareholders on the register on 6 
December 2019.

The directors have not recommended a final dividend in respect of 2020.

The loss on interest rate swaps measured at fair value is adjusted in calculating underlying EPS, as it is a volatile, non-
cash movement linked to changing predictions of future interest rates. A diluted EPS is not presented as there are no 
dilutive financial investments. 
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9. PENSION SCHEMES

Defined contribution

Eligible employees are able to join the group’s defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held separately 
from those of the group in an independently administered fund. The pension charge to the profit and loss account 
represents contributions payable by the group and amounts to £0.7m (2019: £0.6m).

Defined benefit

The group operates two defined benefit schemes which have been closed to new entrants since 1 April 2001 and 
closed to future accrual with effect from 31 August 2009. The schemes are funded by contributions from the group 
and, prior to closure, also from the employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately from the assets of 
the group in trustee administered funds. 

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 1 January 2018, the results of this have been updated at 31 March 
2020 by a qualified actuary.

The main assumptions used by the actuary were:

Life expectancies under the 1959 scheme mortality assumptions are shown below:

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below:

2020 2019

Rate of increase in pensions payment 2.70% 3.35%

Discount rate 2.35% 2.45%

Price inflation (RPI) 2.70% 3.35%

Price inflation (CPI) 1.60% 2.25%

Cash commutation (proportion taken on retirement) 70% 70%

Mortality (1959 scheme) 107% SAPS S2 CMI 2019 1.5% 107% SAPS S2 CMI 2017 1.5%

Mortality (Supplementary scheme) SAPS S2 L CMI 2019 1.5% SAPS S2 L CMI 2017 1.5%

2020 2019

Years Years

Current pensioners (at 65) - males 86 87 

Current pensioners (at 65) - females 88 89 

Pensioners retiring in 20 years (at 65) - males 88 88 

Pensioners retiring in 20 years (at 65) - females 90 91 

Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate decrease 0.25% increase 4.2%

Price inflation (RPI and CPI) increase 0.25% increase 0.9%

Cash commutation (proportion taken on retirement) decrease 20% increase 2.8%

Rate of mortality (change to life expectancy) decrease LTIR 0.25% decrease 2.0%
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9. PENSION SCHEMES continued

Value

2020 2019

£m £m

Equities 104.3 119.2 

Bonds 18.3 17.7 

Gilts 1.4 1.4 

Other 0.5 1.0 

Fair value of scheme assets 124.5 139.3 

Present value of scheme liabilities (156.8) (164.1)

Deficit in schemes (32.3) (24.8)

Related deferred tax asset 6.1 4.2 

Net pension liability (26.2) (20.6)

The difference between assets and liabilities is extremely volatile; it can alter very significantly depending on the 
date at which the measurements were carried out.

The group expects to contribute £0.6m to its defined benefit pension schemes in the year to 31 March 2021.

Past service cost in respect of defined benefit scheme
The Lloyds Banking Group Pensions Trustees Limited v Lloyds Bank PLC (and others) court judgement on 26 
October 2018 provided some clarity in respect of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP) equalisation and the 
obligations that this places on schemes.

An actuarial estimate of the cost of GMP equalisation has been prepared using the C2 method in the Lloyds 
Judgement, giving an estimated cost of £1.2m for the Daniel Thwaites 1959 Pension Scheme. The Daniel Thwaites 
Supplementary Pension Scheme does not contain any GMP and therefore there is no impact of GMP equalisation.

Scheme assets Scheme liabilities Net deficit

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Movement in deficit in the year

At the beginning of the year 139.3 131.5 (164.1) (166.4) (24.8) (34.9)

Current service cost - - - - - - 

Past service cost - - - (1.2) - (1.2)

Contributions by employer 0.8 1.8 - - 0.8 1.8 

Interest on pension liabilities 3.3 3.5 (3.9) (4.4) (0.6) (0.9)

Benefits paid (5.5) (5.7) 5.5 5.7 - - 

Actuarial (loss) gain (13.4) 8.2 5.7 2.2 (7.7) 10.4 

At the end of the year 124.5 139.3 (156.8) (164.1) (32.3) (24.8)

2020 2019

£m £m

Group Profit and Loss Account

Pension costs charged against operating profit:

Past service cost in respect of defined benefit schemes - (1.2)

Administration expenses (0.6) (0.6)

Charge in respect of defined contribution scheme (0.7) (0.6)

(1.3) (2.4)

Net interest on pension liability (0.6) (0.9)

Total charge (1.9) (3.3)

Actual return on scheme assets (10.1) 11.7 

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Actuarial (loss) gain (7.7) 10.4 

Deferred tax 1.4 (1.8)

Recognised actuarial (loss) gain on pension schemes less related tax (6.3) 8.6 
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9. PENSION SCHEMES continued

10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Relationship between the reporting entity and the trustees (managers) of the defined benefit scheme
The pension assets are held in separate trustee administered schemes to meet long term pension liabilities to 
past and present employees. The trustees of the schemes are required to act in the best interests of the schemes’ 
beneficiaries. The appointment of trustees to the schemes is determined by the schemes’ trust documentation. 
The group is responsible for the appointment and removal of the trustees except for the two member nominated 
trustees of each Scheme who are elected by the membership and can only be removed with the consent of all the 
trustees.

Future funding obligations in relation to defined benefit schemes
The most recently completed triennial actuarial valuation of the group’s main retirement benefit schemes was 
performed by an independent actuary for the trustees of the schemes and was carried out as at 1 January 2018. 
Following the valuation, the group has agreed to contribute £0.8m per annum payable monthly to the Daniel 
Thwaites 1959 Pension Scheme from 1 December 2018 in order to eliminate the deficit over the period to 1 October 
2023. The group will also pay the amount of the PPF levy as requested and any expenses of the scheme.

Following the valuation of the Daniel Thwaites Supplementary Pension Scheme, the group has agreed to contribute 
£0.1m per annum payable monthly to the Scheme from 1 December 2018 in order to eliminate the deficit over the 
period to 1 December 2023. The group will also pay the amount of the PPF levy as requested and any expenses of 
the scheme.

The group considers that the contribution rates agreed with the Trustees at the last valuation date are sufficient 
to eliminate those deficits over the agreed periods and to cover the expenses of running the Schemes. The next 
triennial valuations are due to be completed as at 1 January 2021. The schemes provide death-in-service benefits 
which are insured and the group pays these insurance premiums directly as requested.

As at 31 March 2020, in accordance with Group policy, 20% of the pub estate was revalued by external valuers, 
Messrs. Fleurets, Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was on the basis of Existing Use Value in respect of these 
properties in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards, Sixth Edition.

At the same date two hotels and two inns were revalued by external valuers, Christie & Co., Surveyors, Valuers and 
Agents. The properties were valued on the basis of Existing Use Value as fully operational individual hotel units and 
the ancilliary properties were valued at Market Value in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards, Sixth Edition.

In addition, an impairment review was carried out on the remainder of the estate, by the Company’s own 
professionally qualified staff. Valuations are carried out with reference to the fair maintainable trade of the property 
and appropriate multipliers.

The external property valuations were carried out in February/March 2020 prior to the hospitality industry closure.
Due to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 the transactional property market is not functioning normally and therefore 
the valuations are at a time when material uncertainty exists.

Land and 
properties

Plant and 
machinery

Fixtures 
and fittings

Total

£m £m £m £m

Group

Cost or valuation:

At 31 March 2019 257.7 3.3 117.6 378.6 

Capital expenditure 5.6 0.5 4.7 10.8 

Disposals (4.7) - (1.5) (6.2)

Revaluation 1.9 - - 1.9 

At 31 March 2020 260.5 3.8 120.8 385.1 

Depreciation:

At 31 March 2019 1.8 1.1 77.7 80.6 

Charge for the year 0.2 0.5 7.0 7.7 

Disposals - - (0.6) (0.6)

Revaluation (0.1) - - (0.1)

At 31 March 2020 1.9 1.6 84.1 87.6 

Net book value 31 March 2020 258.6 2.2 36.7 297.5 

Net book value 31 March 2019 255.9 2.2 39.9 298.0 
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS continued

2020 2019

£m £m

Land and properties at cost or valuation:

Freehold 233.6 230.6 

Long leasehold 26.9 27.1 

260.5 257.7 

Cost or valuation of land and properties:

As valued 2020 56.7 - 

As valued 2019 59.2 62.1 

As valued 2018 and prior 101.8 149.9 

At cost* 42.8 45.7 

260.5 257.7 

The historical cost of land and properties as shown above:

Cost 184.4 183.2 

Accumulated depreciation (1.6) (1.4)

Net book value 182.8 181.8 

*Due to the timing of purchase of these assets they have yet to be formally valued. The purchase price is deemed 
to be a reasonable approximation of the asset’s market value.

Land and 
properties

Plant and 
machinery

Fixtures 
and fittings

Total

£m £m £m £m

Parent

Cost or valuation:

At 31 March 2019 257.7 3.3 117.6 378.6 

Capital expenditure 5.6 0.5 4.7 10.8 

Disposals (4.7) - (1.5) (6.2)

Revaluation 1.9 - - 1.9 

At 31 March 2020 260.5 3.8 120.8 385.1 

Depreciation:

At 31 March 2019 1.8 1.1 77.7 80.6 

Charge for the year 0.2 0.5 7.0 7.7 

Disposals - - (0.6) (0.6)

Revaluation (0.1) - - (0.1)

At 31 March 2020 1.9 1.6 84.1 87.6 

Net book value 31 March 2020 258.6 2.2 36.7 297.5 

Net book value 31 March 2019 255.9 2.2 39.9 298.0 
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS continued

2020 2019

£m £m

Land and properties at cost or valuation:

Freehold 233.6 230.6 

Long leasehold 26.9 27.1 

260.5 257.7 

Cost or valuation of land and properties:

As valued 2020 56.7 - 

As valued 2019 59.2 62.1 

As valued 2018 and prior 101.8 149.9 

At cost* 42.8 45.7 

260.5 257.7 

The historical cost of land and properties as shown above:

Cost 207.7 206.8 

Accumulated depreciation (1.6) (1.4)

Net book value 206.1 205.4 

11. INVESTMENTS

12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

*Due to the timing of purchase of these assets they have yet to be formally valued. The purchase price is deemed 
to be a reasonable approximation of the asset’s market value.

Loans from subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and have no fixed repayment date.

Shares in 
subsidiaries

Loans from 
subsidiaries

£m £m

Parent

Cost less amounts written off:

At 31 March 2019 11.5 (12.6)

Movements - - 

At 31 March 2020 11.5 (12.6)

Trade 

loans

£m

Group and Parent

Cost:

At 31 March 2019 1.0 

Additions 0.7 

Disposals and repayments (0.7)

At 31 March 2020 1.0 

Provision for dimunition in value

At 31 March 2019 0.2 

Decrease in the year - 

At 31 March 2020 0.2 

Net book value 31 March 2020 0.8 

Net book value 31 March 2019 0.8 
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Group Parent

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m

Due within one year

Trade debtors 3.7 4.5 3.7 4.5 

Other debtors 0.8 1.0 0.8 1.0 

Prepayments and accrued income 1.1 1.3 1.1 1.3 

5.6 6.8 5.6 6.8 

Due after one year

Prepayments and accrued income 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 

Deferred tax (see note 18) 5.4 2.9 5.4 2.9 

11.1 9.8 11.1 9.8 

Group Parent

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m

Group and Parent

Due within one year

Trade creditors 4.2 6.4 4.2 6.4 

Other taxation and social security 2.0 1.9 2.0 1.9 

Other creditors 1.8 1.6 1.8 1.6 

Corporation tax 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.5 

Accruals and deferred income 5.0 4.8 5.0 4.8 

Loans from subsidiaries (note 12) - - 12.6 12.6 

13.3 15.2 25.9 27.8 

13. STOCKS

14. DEBTORS

15. CREDITORS

2020 2019

£m £m

Group and Parent

Finished goods and goods for resale 0.5 0.7 

12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS continued

The company had the following 100% owned subsidiary undertakings all of which were dormant throughout the 
year:

Shire Hotels Limited, Shire Inns Limited, Lodge on the Park Limited, Park Hotels Limited, Thwaites Inns Limited, 
Yerburgh Estates Limited, Rosewood Limited, Wirral Inns Limited, Royal Oak Limited, Yates and Jackson Limited, 
Star Lager Brewing Limited, Preston Breweries Limited, Bury Brewery Limited, Daniel Thwaites (Trustee) Limited, 
Langdale Chase Hotel Limited, Langdale Chase Limited, Lady Anne Middleton’s Hotel Limited.

The registered address is the same for all companies and is given on page 57.
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Group Parent

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m

Due after one year

Loan capital (note 16) 65.5 45.0 65.5 45.0 

Interest rate swaps 21.4 18.9 21.4 18.9 

86.9 63.9 86.9 63.9 

Total

£m

Group and Parent

Interest rate swaps  

At 31 March 2019 18.9 

Interest expense arising from financial liabilities (2.0)

Movement in fair value 4.5 

At 31 March 2020 21.4 

16. LOAN CAPITAL AND OTHER BORROWINGS

15. CREDITORS continued

2020 2019

£m £m

Group and Parent

Bank loans - revolving credit facilities 20.5 28.5 

Overdrafts 0.4 - 

Term loan 45.0 45.0 

65.9 73.5 

2020 2019

£m £m

After five years 45.0 45.0 

Between two and five years 20.5 - 

65.5 45.0 

On demand or within one year 0.4 28.5 

65.9 73.5 

Borrowing facilities: 2020 2019

£m £m

The group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available:

Expiring within one year 1.6 3.5 

Expiring between two and five years 14.5 - 

The term loan is secured by a first floating charge over all of the assets of the parent company and certain 
subsidiaries and bears interest at an average fixed rate of 7.02% per annum. The term loan is repayable by ten equal 
annual instalments commencing on 16th December 2025.

In accordance with the terms of the borrowing facilities, the group is required to comply with certain financial 
covenants. As at, and for the year ended 31 March 2020, the group has complied with the terms of those financial 
covenants.

Borrowings are repayable as follows:

After the year end, in response to the uncertainties created by the COVID-19 pandemic, the company increased its 
revolving credit facilities by £8m and renegotiated its banking covenants.
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Carrying value

2020 2019

£m £m

Financial instruments that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Trade loans 0.8 0.8 

Cash 0.5 3.8 

Trade debtors 3.7 4.5 

Other debtors 0.8 1.0 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Loan capital (65.5) (73.5)

Trade creditors (4.2) (6.4)

Bank overdraft (0.4) - 

Other creditors (1.8) (1.6)

Accruals (5.0) (4.1)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through the profit and loss account

Interest rate swaps (21.4) (18.9)

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are classified and accounted for according to the substance of the contractual arrangement 
as either financial assets, financial liabilities or equity instruments. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. All financial assets and 
liabilities are denominated in sterling.

The Financial Review section within the Strategic Report provides an explanation of the group’s funding, liquidity and 
interest rate management policies.

The interest rate profile of the group’s borrowings was as follows:

As at 31 March 2020, the group has interest rate swap contracts with a notional value of £55m. At the year end none 
of these swap contracts are hedged against current variable rate borrowings.

The primary financial instruments are as follows:

Fixed rate 
borrowings

Floating rate 
borrowings

Weighted 
average of fixed 

borrowings

Weighted 
average of fixed 

borrowings

£m £m Rate (%) Period (years)

At 31 March 2020 45.0 20.5 7.02% 9 

At 31 March 2019 45.0 28.5 7.02% 10 
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18. DEFERRED TAXATION

19. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted and Fully Paid Up

2020 2019

£m £m

Ordinary shares of 25p each 14.7 14.7 

2020 2019

£m £m

Accelerated capital allowances 0.7 1.3 

Provisions - - 

Tax losses - - 

Deferred tax excluding that relating to pension liability 0.7 1.3 

Deferred tax on pension scheme deficit (note 9) (6.1) (4.2)

Total deferred tax asset (included within debtors on the balance sheet) (5.4) (2.9)

Movement in the provision

At 31 March 2019 1.3 

Deferred tax charged to the profit and loss account (current year movement at 19%) (0.6)

At 31 March 2020 0.7 

Deferred tax asset relating to pension deficit

At 31 March 2019 4.2 

Deferred tax charged to the profit and loss account 0.5 

Deferred tax charged in the statement of comprehensive income 1.4 

At 31 March 2020 6.1 

Deferred taxation is provided in the accounts at 19% (2019: 17%)

The elements of deferred tax are as follows:

In addition to the deferred tax asset recognised above, the group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset in respect 
of capital losses of £0.9m (2019 : £1.1m). This asset has not been recognised due to uncertainty regarding the asset 
being realised in the future.
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23. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

24. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Aggregate amount:

Directors' emoluments 694.4 729.9 

Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 33.8 29.3 

728.2 759.2 

Highest paid director:

Directors' emoluments 352.9 272.3 

Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 22.4 16.3 

375.3 288.6 

Retirement benefits are accruing to two directors under the Group’s defined contribution pension scheme (2019: 
two) and are payable to one director under the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme (2019: one).

There is no further compensation of key management personnel other than that disclosed above (2019 : none).

Events after the balance sheet as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic are covered on pages 22 to 23.

There are no other post balance sheet events.

20. RESERVES

Revaluation reserve - where property, plant and equipment is revalued, the cumulative increase in the fair value 
of the property at the date of reclassification in excess of any previous impairment losses is included in the 
revaluation reserve.

Capital redemption reserve - a statutory, non-distributable reserve into which amounts are transferred following 
the redemption or purchase of a company’s own shares.

21. FUTURE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

22. LEASE COMMITMENTS

Group Parent

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m

Contracted for but not provided 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.5 

Plant and equipment Property

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Within one year 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.1 

One to five years 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 

Over five years - - 0.2 0.2 

0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 
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